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We are creating a
region of excellence

We have a vision....

By 2050 the South West of Western Australia 
will be recognised internationally as a region of 
excellence.

 To achieve this vision we have a blueprint

Think of the blueprint as a road map we need 
to follow to reach our destination: A Region of 
Excellence by 2050.

 Helping to attain this goal is our team

Our staff members work with stakeholders in the 
region to achieve our vision. Our stakeholders 
are people like you, representing areas such as 
government, community and industry.
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We’re working on 
tomorrow, today

Aravina Estate secured its first direct sale of wine into China after being linked to an importer by 
the South West Development Commission's TradeStart arm.



Compliance

In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial 
Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for your 
information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual 
Report of the South West Development Commission, for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2014.

The South West Development Commission was 
established under the Regional Development 
Commissions Act 1993.

In the performance of its functions, the South West 
Development Commission complies with all relevant 
written laws including but not limited to:

•	 Regional Development Commissions Act 1993
•	 Financial Management Act 2006
•	 Contaminated Sites Act 2003
•	 Disability Services Act 1993
•	 Equal Opportunity Act 1984
•	 Freedom of Information Act 1992
•	 Industrial Relations Act 1979
•	 Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
•	 Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
•	 Public Sector Management Act 1994
•	 Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
•	 State Records Act 2000
•	 State Supply Commission Act 1991
•	 Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
•	 Royalties for Regions Act 2009

Stuart Hicks
BOARD CHAIRMAN
11 August 2015

Don Punch
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
11 August 2015

In the financial administration of the South West 
Development Commission, we have complied with the 
requirements of the Financial Management Act 2006 and 
every other relevant written law, and exercised controls 
which provide reasonable assurance that the receipt and 
expenditure of moneys and the acquisition and disposal 
of public property and incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any 
circumstances which would render the particulars in this 
statement misleading or inaccurate.
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Laying the foundations

2014/15 will be remembered as a banner year for the 

Commission, not least because the ambitious South West 

Regional Blueprint was finalised, released and ready to 

be formally launched on July 1 2015. A strategy for the 

growth and development of the region over the next 35 

years, the completion of the blueprint signifies about 

two years of work by the Commission and Regional 

Development Australia – South West. It is notable 

because it represents state and federal government 

agencies coming together with community stakeholders 

to agree on what is best for the region’s future and what 

projects are priorities for investment. 

Indeed, the future of the region was a major focus for us 

in 2014/15 as we laid the foundations for growing the 

region to 2050. We are proud to report that ahead of the 

official launch of the blueprint, significant inroads were 

made towards realising the recommendations listed in 

the document. Our forward planning efforts resulted in 

funds being secured for a number of projects identified as 

important to stimulating the region’s economy, generating 

jobs and enhancing quality of life. A significant factor in 

our success in financing these transformational projects 

was our ability to dip into the $600million Royalties for 

Regions – Growing Our South fund.
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More than 95 per cent of 
respondents to our client survey 
said they were satisfied with the 
quality of service we provide.

And as much as we endeavoured to pave the way for 

ensuring the long-term needs of the South West are taken 

care of, we also addressed the region’s more immediate 

requirements and took the time to reflect on all that 

the Commission has achieved in its three decades in 

operation. The year 2014 marked 30 years of us working 

for the benefit of the region. We are proud of all that we 

have accomplished over the years in partnership with our 

stakeholders, and look forward to the coming years – we 

can confidently say the foundations are in place for a 

bright future.

Regional Development Australia – South West chair Duncan Anderson and SWDC chairman Stuart Hicks 
sign the South West Regional Blueprint.



2

Strategic performance 

Making the region the best possible place in which to live, 

work and invest was foremost in our minds over the past 

12 months. As such, we are delighted with the strong 

progress made on delivering our strategic agenda as we 

ticked off a number of priority projects and performed at a 

high level.

Considerable effort went into planning and business case 

development for projects identified in the blueprint as 

being important to the prosperity of the region. By year’s 

end, millions of dollars in State Government funding had 

been secured towards ensuring these projects make the 

leap from paper to reality.

Of particular note was the $59.7million commitment 

towards the expansion of the Busselton airport. This 

project is underscored in the blueprint for its potential to 

unlock critical economic and business opportunities and is 

just one of the strategic objectives our team progressed.

Though the region enjoys a dynamic economy, with gross 

regional product estimated at $17billion in 2013/14, the 

need to generate new jobs and maintain quality of life is 

intensifying as population increases. Gateway projects like 

the aforementioned Busselton airport expansion, which 

are expected to unlock wider economic opportunities, 

are vital to shaping a bright future for the region given our 

population is forecast to more than double to 500,000 in 

the next three to four decades.

In the face of population expansion, including in the over 

65s demographic, addressing the provision of quality 

of life is also important. With this in mind, another key 

outcome for us was taking steps towards building the 

stock of affordable and age-friendly accommodation 

by securing Royalties for Regions funding to support 

the construction of aged independent living units in 

Pemberton, Northcliffe, Dardanup and Boyanup. 

We would also like to point out that two State 

Government programs, the Community Chest Fund and 

Regional Grants Scheme, allowed us to make decisions 

about the allocation of Royalties for Regions funding in our 

region. This funding flowed into the region in 2015, giving 

local groups the support they require to get projects off 

the ground and carry out vital community services. 

Our renamed and revamped South West Community 

The $36.47million Augusta Boat Harbour was officially opened in November 2014 after almost three years of construction.

OVERVIEW ABOUT THIS 
REPORT HIGHLIGHTS CHAIRMAN’S 

MESSAGE
Q&A WITH 
THE CEO
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Events Program, which enabled people to submit 

applications for funding online for the first time in our 30 

year history, provided a financial helping hand to a record 

number of concerts, festivals and exhibitions.

Other highlights in what was a big year in terms of 

completion of major infrastructure projects include the 

opening of the Augusta Boat Harbour and the completion 

of the first stage of the Margaret River Perimeter Road. 

Investment in emerging and growth industries such as 

the creative and agricultural sectors, announcement 

of funding towards a long-list of mobile phone towers 

in the South West, the transformation of three of the 

region’s towns into SuperTowns, and the strengthening of 

international ties were also major achievements for us this 

fiscal year.

The way we successfully carried out our work was 

reflected in the results of our annual client survey. In the 

questionnaire, a total of 97 per cent of local government 

respondents and 94 per cent of key client respondents 

– an average of 95.5 – indicated that they were satisfied 

with the quality of service provided by the Commission.

Working together to achieve our 
objectives

Part of the reason we were able to attract such positive 

feedback about our effectiveness was because of the 

team we have in place. As well as being thankful for the 

work of our staff members, we are also indebted to our 

very active board, which has played a valuable role in 

guiding and setting the priorities of the Commission. And 

we are grateful for the support received from the Minister 

for Regional Development, Terry Redman, and the team in 

his office.

Last but not least, we would like to acknowledge the 

people in the community who were so open to working 

with us. Without cooperation from local organisations 

and the general public, we would not have been able to 

achieve all that we have this year.

Without a doubt, we enjoyed working on projects in 

partnership with good-hearted people in the community 

who, like us, only want what’s best for the South West. 

Whether assisting a local group with a funding application, 

offering advice as part of a steering committee, or 

providing an extra set of hands at events, we helped in 

numerous and diverse ways that displayed our dynamism 

and relentless commitment to the region.

We joined forces not only with the general community, 

but also more formally with other arms of government as 

well as organisations within the world community. New 

partnerships, which are intended to smooth the way to 

attaining our strategic goals, include a memorandum of 

understanding with the Jiaxing chamber of commerce as 

well as an agreement to facilitate the development of the 

state’s largest film and animation studio in Bunbury – both 

have the potential to increase investment in the region.

Forecast performance

As a region-building organisation, we remain optimistic 

about our ability to tackle the challenges and harness 

the opportunities that come with meeting the current 

and future needs of our growing corner of the state. It 

won’t be easy, but with a dedicated team, combined with 

support from the community, a solid plan to steer our 

work, and funding sources such as the five-year Royalties 

for Regions – Growing Our South fund, there is no doubt 
about our efficacy to deliver meaningful results again 
next year. We look forward to taking the next step in our 
strategic journey with you – our stakeholders – by our 
side.

Together, we are creating a region of excellence.

Regional Development Minister Terry Redman and SWDC chairman 
Stuart Hicks at the official opening of the Augusta Boat Harbour.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Welcome to the South West 
Development Commission’s  
annual report for 2014/15. 

The report is provided to the Minister for Regional 
Development and is tabled in the Parliament of Western 
Australia. It has also been created to inform a range of 
stakeholders as well as the general community. 

By reading it, we hope you gain greater understanding 
about our organisation and its role in the South West of 
Western Australia, while obtaining insight into how our 
decision-making and activities are shaping the region. 

Most importantly, the report highlights our performance 
against the actions set out in the South West Regional 
Blueprint. Most of the information about our performance 
is contained in chapters named after our four delivery 
areas: 

A summary of our corporate performance and audited 
financial statements are also included. 

It should be noted that this report has been developed in 
line with the Public Sector Commission’s annual reporting 
framework for the 2014/15 financial year.

Online report 

This report is available to read online. The HTML format 
has been designed for ease of use, without the need to 
download documents, though the report is also available 
to download as a PDF from our website. Our web-friendly 
version of the annual report also includes exclusive 
features such as a video message from our chairman. 

We encourage you to read the report online, in either 
HTML or PDF format, to reduce printing costs and 
environmental impact. Copies are available from SWDC 
but in limited numbers on request. If you choose to 

We work to support a 
broad, internationally-
engaged industry base 
that is business ready and 
positioned to engage with 
the markets in Asia.

Industry and 
Business

Infrastructure
We focus on projects 
that remove distance 
as a barrier, and build 
economic and community 
development.

People and Place 
We seek to develop a 
region of first choice, 
building population and 
improving amenity.

Community

We strive to create 
cohesive, vibrant and 
engaged communities.

download and print this report at home or work, we 
encourage you to use recycled paper. 

Click here to organise a free printed copy of our annual 
report to be mailed to you.

Accessibility 

This document is available in alternative formats on 
request. 

Contact us on 9792 2000 or info@swdc.wa.gov.au  
for more information. Read this report online at  
www.swdc.wa.gov.au .
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http://www.swdc.wa.gov.au/what-we-do/strategic-planning/south-west-regional-blueprint.aspx
http://www.swdc.wa.gov.au/what-we-do/strategic-planning/south-west-regional-blueprint.aspx
mailto:info@swdc.wa.gov.au
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HIGHLIGHTS HIGHLIGHTS OF THE

YEAR IN 
REVIEW

Spotlight on our achievements

An agreement is signed to facilitate the 
development of the state’s largest movie 
animation and film studios in Bunbury.

Two Royalties for Regions programs, the 
Community Chest Fund and Regional Grants 
Scheme, are announced to support community 
projects.

The new $36.47million Augusta boat harbour 
is officially opened.

Busselton hosts its first cruise ship visit.

A culinary trail linked to the Margaret River 
Gourmet Escape is just one of the ways we 
connected international buyers with local 
producers. 

A record number of events are funded through 
our South West Community Events Program.

The South West strengthens its international 
ties through initiatives such as a sister caves 
agreement with Vietnam. 

The South West Regional Blueprint is finalised 
and endorsed for release.

A total of $7.4milllion is announced towards 
aged accommodation projects.

Gracetown is announced as one of 25 
locations which will get a new mobile base 
station.

The doors of the SuperTown of Collie’s first 
art gallery open to the public.

Construction of the first stage of the Margaret 
River Perimeter Road is completed.

The $59.7million expansion of the Busselton 
airport is announced.

The value of grants administered

The total value of funds secured for 
projects in the region from the Royalties 
for Regions – Growing Our South fund

The total number of grants allocated

Number of events supported through our 
South West Community Events Program

Number of permanent staff on the books

Number of offices in the region

Number of SuperTowns in the South 
West region

Projects boosted through the Royalties 
for Regions − Regional Grants Scheme

Projects assisted through the Royalties 
for Regions − Community Chest Fund

$4m

$55m

152

56

23
3

3

14

32

SWDC’s Gayle Gray and Shire of Donnybrook-Balingup’s Peter Caccioppola inspect the route for the Ferguson Valley tourist route project.
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JULY

Beauty and the Beast

Telling Tales in Balingup

Banquet on the Bridge

Shorelines Writing for 
Performance Festival

AUGUST

CinéfestOZ

Taste of the Blackwood

South West Women’s Fun 
Run and Walk

SEPTEMBER

Margaret River Spring 
Festival

Northcliffe’s 90th Birthday 
Celebrations

OCTOBER

Manjimup Bluegrass and Old 
Time Music Weekend

Golden Valley Tree Park 
Spring Picnic

Surf to Surf Fun Run

The South West Foodbowl 
Festival

Dardanup Bull and Barrel 
Festival

NOVEMBER

Geographe Crush Wine 
Exhibition

Donnybrook Food and  
Wine Festival

Friends of Des Ugle Park 
Christmas Concert

Qube Truck Pull

REGIS Australian Veteran 
Golfers Union National 
Championships

DECEMBER

Artzability Art Exhibition

Australian Hobie Cat 
Nationals

A year of supporting 
South West events
A look back at some of the events we backed 
in 2014/15.

OVERVIEW ABOUT THIS 
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MESSAGE
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JANUARY ■

Australian Hobie Cat 
Nationals

Rally in the Valley

Jazz in the Jarrah

Picnic in the Park

USA Late Model Invasion 
Tour

Subaru Australian Mountain 
Bike Series

Bunbury Summer School

Out of the Box + Into the 
Cube Art Party

Re.Discover

Geographe Bay Taser World 
Championships

55th Annual Art in the Park

FEBRUARY

Boyup Brook Country Music 
Festival

Music in the Vineyard

Live Life with Relish Festival

Millard Classic Fishing 
Competition

Busselton Runners Club Half 
Marathon and Fun Run

Geographe Bay Raceweek

Augusta River Festival

Dunsborough Arts Festival

MARCH ■

Dunsborough Arts Festival

Augusta River Festival

Love Where You Live 
Summer Cinema

Harvey Harvest Festival

Millard Classic Fishing 
Competition

Rally 4 Respect

Harmony Day Festival

Busselton Community 
Garden Open Day

Margaret River Concert 
Band Intergenerational 
Concert

Emergence Creative Festival

APRIL ■

Blackwood River Chamber 
Festival

Bunbury Show – Horse and 
Country Music Event

Margaret River Region Open 
Studios

Traditional Trades

MAY ■

Festival of Country Gardens

Greenbushes Fun Run and 
Festival

SunSmart Busselton Festival 
of Triathlon

Shorelines Writing for 
Performance Festival

The City of Bunbury 
Eisteddfod

Margaret River Readers and 
Writers Festival

JUNE ■

Bridgetown in the 
Winter: Wonderful Winter 
Wonderland Opening Night

The City of Bunbury 
Eisteddfod

Bendigo Bank Dunsborough 
Bay Fun Run

OVERVIEW ABOUT THIS 
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A MESSAGE FROM OUR 

CHAIRMAN
OVERVIEW ABOUT THIS 

REPORT HIGHLIGHTS CHAIRMAN’S 
MESSAGE

Q&A WITH 
THE CEO

Laying the foundations for a legacy 
we can be proud of

Why have a blueprint? The best answer I can give is this: 
Because it’s very important the South West region can pass 

what I like to call the “Generational Test.” 

So what’s the “Generational Test”? It’s when the future of a region is so 
assured and confident that each generation of a family knows it can happily 

live there in the knowledge that the next generation will be able to prosper in the 
region if it wants to as well, and the next, and the next. 

To have this confidence, we need to share and pursue a vision of what we are 
creating in this great place, to nourish its amenity, to build the opportunity and to 

sustain the environment. That doesn’t mean growth for growth’s sake. But it does mean 
having diverse, robust services and industries that can carry the region into the future. 

That’s what a blueprint is for. We, in the South West, have worked closely together to 
draw up our blueprint.  It’s a clear picture of a region that will see many more of us living 
and working together, sustained not just by the employment opportunities we already 
have, but by a growing range of new creative, service-oriented industries, great transport 
connections, and a savvy connection to the Indian Ocean world where we live.

With a solid base to grow from, the region will build and hold generation after generation.

Chairman 
Stuart Hicks

A MESSAGE FROM OUR 

CHAIRMAN
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The South West Regional Blueprint highlights what needs 
to be done to ensure that as the region’s population 
grows, there are enough jobs to go around and residents 
continue to enjoy quality lifestyles.

It forms a road map, setting a course of action that needs 
to be followed in order for the region to remain sustainable 
as we journey towards 2050.

Without this road map to guide us as we navigate the 
next 35 years, the prosperity we enjoy now could be lost. 
Leaving the South West’s future up to chance would run 
the risk of our region not being able to cope with our 
predicted population growth and sliding backwards.

As we did not want to delay starting work on realising the 
projects highlighted in the blueprint as key to the region’s 
sustainability, we rolled up our sleeves and began work 
ahead of the finalisation of the document.

Though only endorsed this financial year, the reality is that 
the blueprint has been officially informing the direction 
of our work for the past two years. We made changes 

to our corporate structure back in 2013/14 to align our 
operations with the strategic imperatives in the blueprint. 
Throughout this report, you will see examples of how we 
are putting the plans in the blueprint into action.

According to the vision set out in the blueprint, by 2050 
the South West could have:

•	 A population up to 500,000, up 326,000 from today
•	 The need to generate up to 200,000 new jobs to 

support the forecast population growth
•	 Business and industries revitalised through significant 

market expansion into Asia
•	 A regional airport at Busselton that is used for both 

national and international air services
•	 An expanded Bunbury port that complements 

Fremantle’s and provides opportunities for diversifying 
cargo

•	 Superfast broadband that connects the region to 
opportunities throughout the world

•	 Affordable and diverse housing
•	 Vibrant lifestyle opportunities

South West 
Regional Blueprint 
– at a glance

Collie Shire president and SWDC board member Wayne Sanford showcases Collie’s Throssell Street, which has been improved with underground power.

http://www.swdc.wa.gov.au/what-we-do/strategic-planning/south-west-regional-blueprint.aspx
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Looking back, what were the highlights 
of 2014/15?

2014/15 has been an exciting year for the Commission. 
Firstly, we completed our regional blueprint for the South 
West. The blueprint is based on an extensive economic, 
social and demographic analysis plus an examination 
of world trends that are likely to influence the future 
direction of the region. The blueprint sets out our key 
strategic challenge of growing jobs to meet our population 
growth and to do this through expansion of market 
opportunities for our core industries and to help develop 
new opportunities for our emerging industries. This 
objective has translated into a series of actions to build 
our infrastructure, assist business and industry to adapt 
to new markets and become Asia ready, and develop 

our towns and cities so they are ready to embrace the 

opportunities of the future. The blueprint is a road map to 

grow jobs and prosperity and to grow our quality of life.

With the blueprint completed, the Commission is now 

working on town renewal strategies based on sound 

economic strategies for Margaret River, Collie, Manjimup, 

Busselton and Greater Bunbury and key infrastructure 

projects. A significant milestone was reached when 

the State Government announced $59.7million for the 

expansion of the Busselton airport as part of building 

our international gateways. In this annual report you will 

also see that funding has been provided to the tourism 

and creative industries sectors and the region is now 

gaining international attention in the digital media, film and 

music sectors as a consequence. Active ageing has also 

been on our agenda with significant funding provided to 

support a network of affordable living options for older 

people throughout the region. 

Looking forward, what is in store for 
2015/16?

In 2015/16 we hope to finalise the business case for 

the first stage of the Transforming Bunbury’s Waterfront 

project and redevelopment of Bunbury’s premier asset 

tourism asset, the Dolphin Discovery Centre. Planning 

will continue to advance for the redevelopment of 

Casuarina Harbour, while on the transport logistics front 

construction will start at the Busselton airport and studies 

into the consolidation of land areas at the Bunbury Port 

will be completed. We also plan to commence works on 

Manjimup’s town centre subject to funding as well as the 

northern section of the Margaret River Perimeter Road. 
We will be looking more broadly at affordable housing 
in the region and the redevelopment of the lighthouse 
precincts at Cape Leeuwin and Cape Naturaliste. Also 
high on the agenda will be further support of the creative 
industries sector and a series of business leadership 
forums aimed at building the region’s knowledge of trends 
in industry development.

We anticipate the next phase of the Regional Centres 
Development Plan, which enabled three towns in the 
South West to undergo a SuperTowns transformation, 
will present opportunities for Greater Bunbury. We look 
forward to supporting this initiative.

Still on the future, what are some of the 
challenges facing the Commission?

Our biggest challenge is to make sure the South West 
has the capability in terms of people and infrastructure to 
engage with the national economy and Asia. The quality 
of life available in the South West will continue to be a 
significant attractor for population growth. We must be 
focused on how we grow our industry sectors so we can 
firstly tap into the new emerging industry and service 
sectors and secondly build our jobs capability so that we 
can build prosperity.

Some key areas will be to facilitate a more rapid roll out 
of high capacity broadband, develop greater awareness 
of opportunities in the South West from the investment 
community, and continue to ensure that Royalties for 
Regions investment in our region delivers high quality 
returns for the region as well as for Western Australia.

OVERVIEW ABOUT THIS 
REPORT HIGHLIGHTS CHAIRMAN’S 

MESSAGE
Q&A WITH 
THE CEO

Q&A WITH CEO DON PUNCH
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GOVERNANCEABOUT US OUR MINISTER OUR BOARD OUR EXECUTIVE 
TEAM

OUR OFFICE 
OUR PEOPLE

HOW WE 
PERFORMED

ABOUT US

Who we are 

The South West Development Commission is a statutory 
authority of the West Australian government, with a board 
of management selected from the community and local 
governments, and by Ministerial appointment. 

The Commission was enacted in 1994 under the Regional 
Development Commissions Act 1993, and is one of nine 
uniformly legislated agencies, each serving a different 
region of Western Australia. 

Prior to 1994, the South West Development Commission 
was known as the South West Development Authority. 
The Authority was established by its own act of parliament 
in 1984 to plan, coordinate and promote the economic 
and social development of the South West region of 
Western Australia. Achievements of the Authority ranged 
from the development of Bunbury as a regional centre 
through the Better Cities Project, to the establishment of 
the Bunbury Institute of Advanced Education (now Edith 
Cowan University South West Campus).

What we do 

Though our name has changed over the years, our 
purpose has remained the same: to coordinate and 
promote the economic and social development of the 
South West region of Western Australia. 

We work to make the South West an even better place 
to live, work and invest by partnering with communities, 
government, business and industry to identify and support 
projects that benefit the region. 

The specific objectives of the Commission, as set out in 
the Regional Development Commissions Act 1993, are to: 

•	 Maximise job creation and improve career 
opportunities in the region 

•	 Develop and broaden the economic base of the 
region 

•	 Identify infrastructure services to promote economic 
and social development within the region 

•	 Seek to ensure the general standard of government 
services and access to those services in the region is 
comparable to that which applies to the metropolitan 
area 

•	 Generally take steps to encourage, promote, facilitate 
and monitor the economic development of the region; 
and 

•	 In addition, the SWDC is a body corporate and retains 
an ability to deal in land holdings acquired prior to the 
1993 Act by the former Authority. 

Performance management framework

We work to meet the following policy objectives the State 

Government has identified for regional development: 

•	 Building capacity in regional communities 

•	 Retaining benefits in regional communities 

•	 Improving services to regional communities 

•	 Attaining sustainability; and 

•	 Growing prosperity.

In meeting the objectives set out for us, we also meet the 

wider State Government goals of: 

•	 State building – major projects 

•	 Financial and economic responsibility

•	 Result-based service delivery 

•	 Stronger focus on the regions; and 

•	 Social and environmental responsibility 

More details about our performance management 

framework can be found on page 21.

Brian Piesse, Ernie Kay and Stuart Hicks in discussion during a board meeting.
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How we work 

To realise our aim of making the South West an even 
better place to live, work and invest, we develop and 
support projects that fit under our four strategic priority 
areas of: 

•	 Infrastructure − We focus on projects that remove 
distance as a barrier, and build economic and 
community development.

•	 Industry and Business − We work to support a broad, 
internationally-engaged industry base that is business 
ready and positioned to engage with the markets in 
Asia.

•	 People and Place − We seek to develop a region 
of first choice, building population and improving 
amenity.

•	 Community − We strive to create cohesive, vibrant 
and engaged communities.

To achieve the objectives that fall under each strategic 
priority area, we work in partnership with other agencies. 
As a result, we collaborate with a wide range of 
organisations to achieve outcomes for the region. 

As a regional organisation, covering 23,970 square 
kilometres, we work across the entire South West and 
have offices in Bunbury, Collie and Manjimup. Regional 
coordinators expand our presence across the region and 
are dedicated to covering the Bunbury-Wellington, Vasse, 
and Warren-Blackwood sub-regions. 

Adding to our ability to produce outcomes for the region 
is the fact that we are contracted by the Australian Trade 
Commission to deliver Austrade’s TradeStart services. We 
are also the base for the Bunbury-Jiaxing Business Office. 

In carrying out our work, our staff and board members 
adopt the Commission’s value system.

Our vision

The South West of Western Australia is internationally 
recognised as a region of excellence.

Our mission

To develop the region’s economy and enhance those 
qualities which make the South West the best place in 
which to live, work and invest.

Our promise to you

We are leaders 

We provide leadership to the region that is inspiring, 
motivating and relevant. 

We are professional 

We act at all times with honesty, integrity and fairness, 
recognising the importance of being open and 
accountable in our actions. 

We embrace sustainable practice 

We take a well-planned, considered approach to our 
projects to ensure the qualities and opportunities of 
the region are enhanced for both present and future 
generations. 

We display excellent service 

We aim to be global leaders in regional development, with 
valued and skilled personnel and a responsive attitude to 
people.
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OUR MINISTER

Executive OfficerCEO

Board

Minister

Strategic Manager People, 
Place and Community

Strategic Manager 
Infrastructure

Chief Finance Officer

Customer Service

Community Relations

Communications

Finance and Business 
Analyst

Project Officer 
Infrastructure

Project Analyst

Regional Coordinator 
Vasse

Industry and Business 
Development

Finance Officer

Regional Coordinator 
Bunbury Wellington Tourism Development

Records Officer

Regional Coordinator 
Warren Blackwood

Grants / Regional 
Coordinator

International Business
Administration Officer

Research Analyst

Project Officer

Strategic Manager 
Business and Industry

Organisational structure

Strong governance and organisational structure help us to deliver 
strong outcomes for the region. We are led by the Minister for Regional 
Development, a board of management and an executive team.

Hon Terry Redman MLA Minister for 
Regional Development

We are responsible to the Minister for Regional 
Development, who has the power to direct the 
Commission, either generally or with respect to a 
particular matter, on the exercise and performance 
of its power, functions and duties. 

The Hon Terry Redman MLA has been the Minister 
for Regional Development since November 2013. 

Mr Redman first entered State Parliament in 
February 2005 after successfully contesting the 
seat of Stirling. He now represents the electorate 
of Warren-Blackwood, which includes the towns 
of Denmark, Manjimup, Margaret River and 
Donnybrook. Mr Redman is the leader of The 
Nationals WA.
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OUR BOARD

The South West Development Commission board 
is the governing body responsible to the Regional 
Development Minister for setting the direction and 
priorities of the Commission. 

It has nine members selected from community and 
local government nominations, as well as Ministerial 
appointments. The Commission’s chief executive officer 
also serves on the board, rounding out the total number 
of board members to 10.

All board members bring skills, knowledge and 
experience that benefit the Commission and the region. 

Like staff, board members are expected to declare 
conflicts of interests and adhere to a code of conduct.

Primary activities

•	 Setting the overall strategic direction and goals of the 
Commission 

•	 Providing guidance on specific projects and initiatives 

•	 Formulating Commission policy 

•	 Reviewing progress at regular intervals to ensure 
established goals are being achieved 

•	 Monitoring Commission expenditure 

•	 Promoting economic development 

•	 Representing the Commission at relevant meetings 
and functions 

•	 Providing a conduit between the Commission and the 
community 

•	 Facilitating cooperation between organisations in the 
region

Terms of appointment 

Board members can be appointed for one, two or three 
year terms. They are eligible to apply for a further term 
and may serve for a maximum of six years. During the 
fiscal year, three board members – Ian Stubbs, Ernie Kay 
and Sue Daubney – were reappointed. There were no 
changes to the structure or make-up of the board.

More information about the board, including remuneration, 
can be found on page 85.

Board Remuneration

•	 Chairperson: $60,000 per annum

•	 Deputy Chairperson: $753 per meeting (full day), 
$489 per meeting (half day), plus an additional $5,000 
per annum

•	 Members: $593 per meeting (full day), $384 per 
meeting (half day)

Attendance

Stuart Hicks – 10/10 Ian Stubbs – 10/10

Greg Duff – 9/10 Wade De Campo – 6/10

Sue Daubney – 8/10 Ernie Kay – 9/10

Brian Piesse – 10/10 Louis Evans – 10/10

Wayne Sanford – 8/10 Don Punch – 8/10 

Board subcommittee

The Audit and Risk Assurance Subcommittee was once 
again in operation during the reporting period. This 
group plays a key role in assisting the board to fulfil 
its responsibilities in relation to areas such as financial 
reporting, internal control systems, risk management 
systems and the internal and external audit functions. In 
2014/15, it comprised Brian Piesse (chairman), Ernie Kay, 
Wade De Campo, Don Punch and Susan Fitchat.

Front row: Louis Evans, Don Punch, Stuart Hicks and Sue Daubney.  
Back row: Greg Duff, Wayne Sanford, Wade De Campo, Ian Stubbs, Brian Piesse and Ernie Kay.
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Stuart Hicks AO – Chairman (Current term: 2012 – 2015)

Stuart Hicks is a business policy and planning advisor. 
He has previously headed a range of West Australian 
government agencies, including Transperth, the 
Department of Transport, and Department of Marine and 
Harbours. Mr Hicks has served as a commissioner of 
the WA Planning Commission, chairman of the National 
Transport Commission and chairman of the East Perth 
Redevelopment Authority. He is deputy chair of the 
Regional Development Council of WA and a member of 
the Regional Development Trust. 

Ian Stubbs – Deputy Chair (Current term: 2014 – 2016)

Ian Stubbs has more than four decades of experience in 
local government. He has been the chief executive officer 
of the shires of Dandaragan, Wyndham-East Kimberley, 
Busselton and Toodyay and has worked as a consultant 
to local government. He is currently the Mayor of the 
City of Busselton. Mr Stubbs was awarded the OAM in 
2014 for services to Local Government and the Busselton 
community.

Don Punch  – Chief Executive Officer

Don Punch is the chief executive officer of the South 
West Development Commission and is responsible for 
the coordinated economic and social development of the 
South West region. He has worked throughout regional 
Western Australia on many infrastructure projects and has 
special expertise in community and economic planning, 
trade facilitation, internet marketing and online education, 
and community relations. 

Sue Daubney (Current term: 2014 – 2017)

Sue Daubney is the managing director of Bannister 
Downs Dairy in Northcliffe. Having been awarded the WA 
Telstra Business Women’s Innovation Award in 2006, she 
was further honoured to be announced the First Amongst 
Equals at the WA Business News 40under40 for 2010. 

Mrs Daubney has been a director of the Food Industry 
Association Board (WA) and a member of the Small 
Business Finance Panel (Reserve Bank of Australia), chair 
of the Food Industry Advisory Group (CCIWA) and sat on 
the general council of the Chamber of Commerce (Perth) 
and the Agrifood Alliance of WA.

Brian Piesse (Current term: 2013 – 2016)

Brian Piesse lives in Argyle and operates businesses 
in Busselton and Margaret River. A former Shire of 
Capel councillor, Mr Piesse is a member of the Rotary 
Club of Bunbury, the Bunbury Wellington Economic 
Alliance, a member of the Edith Cowan University 
(South West) Advisory Board, a member of the Western 
Dairy Board, and a member of the Kings Park Botanic 
Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management. 
He has backgrounds in strategic planning, executive 
management, business and market development, and 
education governance. He held senior executive roles 
in several major international chemical and fertiliser 
companies.

Louis Evans (Current term: 2013 – 2016)

Louis Evans has had more than 20 years experience in 
the facilitation of Aboriginal economic development and 
wellbeing, most recently as the chief executive officer 
of the Ngalang Boodja Council Aboriginal Corporation 
in Collie. She is actively involved in land management 
initiatives of Noongar groups and through her previous 
roles as executive director of the Centre for Sustainable 
Mine Lakes and professor of Aquatic Science at Curtin 
University. She is a strong advocate for sustainable 
economic development in the South West.

Wade De Campo (Current term: 2013 – 2015)

Wade De Campo is the president of the Shire of 
Manjimup. He has held numerous positions over the 
years, including with the Warren-Blackwood Economic 

Alliance, Pemberton Chamber of Commerce, Rotary Club 

of Manjimup and Manjimup Cherry Harmony Festival. He 

is a board member of the Conservation Commission of 

Western Australia.

Wayne Sanford (Current term: 2012 – 2015)

Wayne Sanford is the Collie Shire president, a position he 

has held since 2007. A Collie Shire councillor since 2001, 

he sits on a number of Shire committees, contributing 

to areas such as local emergency management. He has 

chaired the Regional Centres Community Reference 

Group, ensuring community involvement in Collie’s 

transformation into a SuperTown. Mr Sanford is deputy 

chairman of the Bunbury Wellington Economic Alliance 

board.

Ernie Kay (Current term: 2014 – 2016)

Busselton resident Ernie Kay brings a wealth of 

experience to the SWDC board gained in senior executive 

and directorship roles in major international companies. 

These roles have spanned Asia and Europe and give him a 

unique perspective on how the South West can extend its 

presence and influence in an area that is vital to our future 

growth. Mr Kay currently works in management consulting 

and has also been involved with sporting organisations 

advising on marketing and sponsorship opportunities. He 

is on the board of the South West Academy of Sport.

Greg Duff (Current term: 2012 – 2015)

Greg Duff lives in Bunbury and works as the mill manager 

for Wespine Industries, the largest structural softwood 

sawmill in Western Australia. He is further involved in 

the industry as a member of the Solid Wood Processing 

Advisory Group for Forest and Wood Products Australia. 

He is also the current secretary for the Leschenault 

Timber Industry Club.
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OUR EXECUTIVE

Our executive team

The Commission’s executive officers provide leadership 

to the Commission’s staff. The executive team meets 

regularly for the purpose of formulating advice to the 

board and coordinating decision-making within the 

Commission.

With diverse backgrounds in regional development, 

members of the executive have experience across a 

number of fields including economics, industry, human 

services, policy and finance.

Don Punch
Chief Executive Officer
MBA, Bachelor of Psychology, Bachelor of Social Work, 

Graduate of the Australian Company of Directors 

Don Punch has extensive experience working throughout 

regional Western Australia on many infrastructure projects 

and has special expertise in community and economic 

planning, trade facilitation, internet marketing and online 

education, and community relations. He was recently 

awarded honorary citizenship of the City of Jiaxing in 

Southern China for services to trade and economic 

development.

Anna Oades
Strategic Manager – People, Place and Community
Bachelor of Arts, Graduate Diploma in Education, 

Teachers Certificate

Anna Oades has wide-ranging experience in the WA 

public sector in diverse areas such as community 

development and funding, social policy and research, 

and social planning. She oversees the team at the 

Commission responsible for building quality of life in the 

region. 

Patrick Warrand
Strategic Manager – Industry and Business Services
Bachelor of Engineering (Mining), Post Graduate Diploma 
in Management and MBA (Technology Management), 

MAUSIMM and MAICD

Patrick Warrand is a mining engineer and manager 

with 30 years experience in industry. He spent more 

than seven years as general manager and company 

director at Premier Coal and nearly 20 years with BHP 

Billiton in senior management roles in Western Australia, 

Canada and Indonesia. He has a strong interest in the 

development of new, growing and sustainable businesses 

for the South West. 

Ashley Clements
Strategic Manager – Infrastructure
Bachelor of Arts (Hons), Post Graduate Certificate in 

Business (Management)

Ashley Clements has 18 years experience in regional 

development, at State, Federal, local government and the 

not-for-profit sector level. Prior to joining the Commission, 

Mr Clements was the Regional Manager-Southern WA 

with AusIndustry, which is part of the Commonwealth 

Department of Industry. He has an interest in helping 

facilitate ‘distance neutral’ infrastructure that will underpin 

growth in the region’s future.

Susan Fitchat  

Chief Finance Officer 
Master of Commerce (Accounting), Member of the 
Institute of Public Accountants, Chartered Secretary 

graduate

Susan Fitchat is responsible for the management of the 

Commission’s financial reporting, human resources, 

information technology and administration services. Her 

experience includes financial administration for attorneys, 

an electricity distributor semi-government authority in 

South Africa, a manufacturing company in Ireland, an oil 

exploration company, an aboriginal medical centre, plus 

local and state government in Australia. Ms Fitchat is an 

active member of the Institute of the Public Accountant’s 

and registered to participate in the Certified Practicing 

Accountant’s program. 

Patrick Warrand, Susan Fitchat, Anna Oades and Ashley Clements.
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Underpinning our work in carrying out the business 
of regional development in the South West region 
was our capable team of 23 permanent employees, 
who were supported by a handful of contract staff. 
Considered the backbone of the Commission, 
our team allowed us to execute our strategic plan 
effectively and efficiently.

Workplace profile and policies

In the reporting year, staff occupied a variety of full and 
part-time roles, ranging from regional development 
coordinator to research analyst and communications 
officer. There were more female than male employees, 
with ages ranging from 30 to 66.

Importantly, our staff members reflected the community 
we serve, with employees choosing to reside throughout 
the South West in a variety of places including, but not 
limited to Binningup, Bunbury, Bridgetown, Busselton 
Donnybrook, and Margaret River.

The work and conduct of the Commission’s employees 
are guided by a number of policies. The policies are 
designed to ensure staff compliance with public sector 
standards and ethical codes, as well as promote 
inclusivity, health and safety, and work-life balance. More 
information on our policies can be found on page 100.

Structural capacity

Following a restructure in 2013/14 so that our operations 
aligned with the strategic priorities in the blueprint, we 
instigated a number of smaller changes this year in 
response to emerging patterns of work and to provide 
more value to the community we serve. 

To streamline our grants processes and increase the 
assistance available to grant applicants, we introduced 
a grants coordinator role. We were also able to bring 
in additional business skills, thanks to the secondment 
of a business analyst from the Department of Regional 
Development to the Commission. And following the 

renewal of our contract to deliver trade services to June 
2018 on behalf of the Australian Trade Commission, we 
had a second employee trained up for the purpose of 
assisting small and medium sized enterprises to link with 
market opportunities.

We operated with all positions filled and within our salary 
cap.

Professional development

To ensure we continue to serve the region as best as we 
can, we invest in the skills of our people. As a result, staff 
were encouraged to take up professional development 
opportunities in order for them to stay up-to-date with 
industry trends and be well-equipped to contribute to 
creating a region of excellence. Over the course of the 
year, $56,776 was spent on learning and development.

We also teamed up with our neighbours at the 
Peel Development Commission for a two-day staff 
development and ideas-sharing session that we hope will 
lead to further collaboration. The Regional Development 
Reform Program, which three of our staff are involved 
with, was among the topics discussed. Further details 
about our professional development opportunities can be 
found on page 100.
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Going above and beyond

A number of staff members went above and beyond by 
volunteering to take on extra duties. We would like to 
highlight the commitment made by the following people to 
keep their colleagues safe and healthy.

•	  Matthew Monisse – Fire warden

•	  Susan Fitchat – Safety and health representative

•	  Daniel Marshall – First aid (part of the year)

Supporting our community

We are firmly part of the community we work to improve 
and as such our employees happily volunteered to 

support local charities and fundraising efforts. For 

example, staff supported Foodbank’s Christmas appeal 

by donating a basket filled with non-perishable items to 

the not-for-profit organisation. Additionally, we got behind 

Fairfax Media’s Arrive Alive road safety campaign over 

the Easter long weekend. And our chief executive officer 

led by example, colouring his hair in support of local 

fundraising efforts for the Leukaemia Foundation’s Shave 

for a Cure.

Work experience

To help get the careers of the next generation of workers 

off to a solid start, we are open to hosting students on 

work placement programs. In the 2014/15 financial year, 

we provided development opportunities to both a high 

school and university student.

The high school student spent time gaining insight into 

the workplace, and was able to travel with our staff 

members to get a first-hand look at our work in the 

region. Meanwhile, the university student was given a 

hands-on role assisting with projects including a regional 

business survey which was a partnership between us and 

the South West Chambers of Commerce and Industry.

Communications 

To keep all staff informed and engaged in the 

Commission’s activities, we utilise a number of internal 

communications channels. For example, in the reporting 

period, we published a weekly staff e-newsletter which 

featured project news, as well as operational and human 

resources updates and reminders. Our daily in-house 

media monitoring service helped to keep staff up to date 

about projects and issues in the region, while our intranet 

once again proved an important resource that enabled 
staff to easily download forms and policies.

We also communicated about projects, events and 
funding opportunities to the public in a diverse range of 
ways, including through regular media releases, a monthly 
e-newsletter, and a Facebook page. As part of public 
consultation for projects we were involved in, online 
surveys were carried out through our website, which has 
become a useful source of information not just about the 
Commission, but the region in general. Accordingly, the 
website recorded 88,300 page views over the financial 
year.

We published a regular Major Projects publication to 
inform people about large-scale developments in the 
region, and released our first Progress Indicators report, 
a statistical document offering insight into the state of the 
region.Donna Easton showcases donations collected for 

Foodbank’s Christmas Appeal.

Working together to survey South West businesses needs: 
Geoff Finlay from Mysouthwest and ECU business student 
Leah Daws, with SWDC’s Geraldine Wilson, Mark Exeter, 
Matthew Monisse and Patrick Warrand.
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Competitions

Our inaugural This South West Life photography 
competition invited people to capture on camera what it’s 
like to live, work and play in the South West of Western 
Australia for the chance to win an autographed Drift DVD. 
We received more than 100 entries depicting eye-catching 
scenes around the region. 

Photos submitted in the contest were shortlisted in-
house, with all staff members offered the chance to vote 
for their favourites. A total of 15 winning entries were 
decided on, including a Chairman’s Choice as judged by 
the chairman of our board.

A 2016 calendar featuring the prize-winning photos will be 
released in late 2015. The calendar will be distributed free 
for the dual purpose of showcasing the winning photos 
and promoting the qualities of the region.

Shared responsibilities with other 
agencies

Like all development commissions in Western Australia, 
we use a shared corporate services provided by the 
Department of Regional Development. This website is 
a portal for all matters relating to corporate services 
including finance and human resources.

Significant issues affecting the agency

While there were no significant issues affecting the 
operation of the Commission in the reporting year, we 
were conscious to limit our spending on advertising and 
promotional materials. As a result, we were very stringent 
when it came to spending in this area, keeping our 
expenditure predominately to raising awareness of key 

funding opportunities and events where there was clear 
public benefit. Please see page 103 for details about 
advertising expenditure.

Auditing matters

We accomplished a great deal this year, and our 
operations ran smoothly thanks to the efforts of our team. 
We have every reason to be proud. Our one letdown 
was not having the former World of Energy collection, 
which was gifted to us by Western Power in 2009/10, 
stocktaked or revalued. This was due to the costs of 
removing the items – many of which are large in size and 
have heritage value − from secure storage. The assets 
were last valued in 2010. The plan is to set up a museum 
in Manjimup which will highlight the history of electricity in 
Western Australia – we look forward to the attraction one 
day opening its doors.

In general we are improving when it comes to auditing 
matters. Through internal audits undertaken by AMD 
Chartered Accountants, there were four findings in 2015, 
compared to 13 findings in 2012.

Findings are an issue identified during the audit, such as 
a non-compliance with the terms and conditions of an 
award, grant, policy, procedure or other legislation that 
the Commission needs to apply with. Findings should 
result in recommendations that resolve the issue and are 
helpful to management in alleviating future issues and 
keeping compliance. 

Record keeping

We have continued to practice good record keeping. 
Our efforts in this area where highlighted when the Office 
of the Auditor General Western Australia conducted an 

assessment of leave management by 10 agencies for the 
period July 1 to September 30. Out of the 10 agencies 
sampled, we were one of only two which were rated as 
‘good’ against all three of the set criteria. Further details 
about our record keeping practices can be found on page 
102.

How we rate 
Findings of the Office of the Auditor General Western 
Australia’s audit on leave management:

Budget 

We exceeded the expenditure limit that was originally set 
for 2014/15. This was not because we went over budget 
by overspending but because we were fortunate to attract 
more State Government funding than expected for South 
West projects. The increase in expenditure related to a 
boost in funds administered by the Commission, including 
the two contestable Royalties for Regions funding 
programs, as well those belonging to the Bunbury Marine 
Facilities and Ferguson Valley Tourism Route projects. 
See our resource agreement on page 21 for further 
information.

GOOD

Policies, 
procedures 
and controls

Effective 
implementation

Accuracy in 
recording leave 
balances

GOOD GOOD
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HOW WE PERFORMED

Each year, our performance is gauged through a client satisfaction survey.  In 2014/15, we again engaged consultants 
Savant Surveys and Strategies to ask our clients to rate our effectiveness and quality of service.

From 249 clients invited to participate in the survey, 122 completed the questionnaire. This was an improved response 
rate of 51.69 per cent, compared to 46.6 per cent the previous year. A snapshot of the survey results is published here.

More than 97 per cent of respondents to our client survey said that the advice 
and assistance provided by us is relevant and beneficial.
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Industrial development
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Problem solving
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Information about the 
region
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Identifying investment 
opportunities
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Planning assistance
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Provision of advice
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Coordination between 
organsiations

What key clients and local 
government members said about 
us−at a glance:

 Without the support of SWDC many 
community events in the smaller country 
towns would not happen. These events keep 
the towns alive and thriving and let the visitors 
see what country people can do if encouraged 
and assisted with advice and funding from 
a group of people who live in the region and 
understand how things work out in the real 
world!

 The SWDC’s handling of the Royalties 
for Regions grants process was professional 
and detailed. The hosting of information 
sessions was a highly effective tool in assisting 
agencies, like us, to better formulate a grant 
application that met the guidelines and met 
regional needs. You made my job of writing the 
grant applications much clearer.

 As a guy walking in with an idea, not 
sure if I’ll get to talk with anyone let alone 
anyone that may be interested in the idea, 
I can honestly say I have only praise for the 
way I was treated and the desire shown to 
try and turn a simple idea into a reality for the 
community. I could not have asked for any 
more of the Bunbury office.

''
''
''
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Government performance framework 

Each year the South West Development Commission is required to meet a number of targets set by the State 
Government. These targets relate to Government-desired outcomes, services to be delivered and performance targets to 
be achieved. The agreement is a transparent way for the State Government to monitor the operational performance of the 
Commission.

Resource agreement

Financial targets
2014/15 

Budget Estimate1

2014/15 
Actual Variation

Total cost of services (ie. endorsed expense limit) 4,876,000 8,821,719 3,945,719

Net cost of services (details in the Income 
Statement) 

4,821,000 8,707,311 3,886,311

Total equity (details in the Balance Sheet) 22,317,000 17,681,820 (4,635,180)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 
(details in the Cash Flow Statement) 

97,000 263,631 166,631

Full time equivalent (FTE) staff level 24 23 1

1. As specified in the budget statements for the year in question.
2. Explanations are contained in Note 33 Explanatory Statement.

Key performance indicators
2014/15 
Target1

2014/15 
 Actual Variation

SERVICE: REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Key effectiveness indicator – Customer satisfaction 
survey

80% 91% 11%

Key efficiency indicator – Average cost per hour of 
service

$186 $178 ($8)

1. As specified in the budget statements for the year in question.
2. Explanations for the variations between target and actual results are presented in the Performance Indicators.
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• Donnybrook
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• Boyup Brook

• Manjimup
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• Busselton

City of
Bunbury •

Warren Blackwood 
SUB-REGIONS 

Bunbury Wellington 
Vasse 

The South West is well-known for its 
natural beauty, attractive Mediterranean 
climate and fantastic lifestyle opportunities, 
but it also enjoys a diverse economy. No 
wonder it is such a popular place to live.

Fast-growing population 

The South West is already the most populated region in 
Western Australia outside the Perth metropolitan area – 
and the headcount is only going to get higher. Currently 
more than 174,000 people are residents of the South 
West. By 2026, 230,000 people are expected to live in the 
region. And by 2050, it is possible as many as 500,000 
will call the South West home. 

The port city of Bunbury is the South West’s regional hub, 
and Busselton is the region’s second city. Many smaller 
towns offer attractive lifestyles throughout the region’s 12 
local government areas.

A regional economic powerhouse 

The South West continues to boast a strong and diverse 
economy, generating an estimated $17billion during 
2013/14. Mining is one of the largest industry sectors 
in the region, with latest estimates showing mining and 
minerals processing to be valued at about $1.9billion per 
annum. 

Our people 

South West residents are the happiest people in regional 
Western Australia. Residents also truly believe they have 
the best lifestyles outside the state’s metropolitan area, 

and enjoy a high sense of community. The 
Living in the Regions 2013 report, a survey of 
attitudes and perceptions about living in regional 
Western Australia, paints a positive picture of how people 
in the South West feel about residing in the region.

Social trends

•	  Over the past five years, the region grew at an 
average annual growth rate of 2.7 per cent, which is 
almost double the national rate.

•	  Children aged 14 years and under make up 20.9 per 
cent of the South West population, compared to the 
state average of 19.2 per cent. 

•	  Over 65s make up 14.1 per cent of the population, 
compared to the state average of 12.4 per cent. 

•	 The number of people in the region aged 65 years 
and over is expected to grow to 19.2 per cent of the 
South West population by 2026. 

Economic trends

•	  The South West economy grew from $15.3billion to 
$17billion.

•	  The Port of Bunbury achieved record trade of 16.26 
million tonnes for the 2014/15 year, with increases in 
both overall exports and imports.

•	  Western Australia’s first 24/7 department store 
opened in Eaton.

•	  The South West’s unemployment rate stood at 4.1 per 
cent, according to figures released for the December 
2014 quarter.

http://www.drd.wa.gov.au/Publications/Documents/Living_in_the_Regions_2013_State_Report.pdf


The South West corner 
of Western Australia is 
a unique region located 
in a special part of the 
world.

Covers an area of 23,970 
square kilometres

Enjoys a Mediterranean 
climate

Comprises three sub 
regions

Has 12 local government 
areas
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Did you know?

The South West is one of 34 biodiversity 
hotspots in the world

The South West has been named by Lonely 
Planet as one of Australia’s top 10 family-
friendly destinations

Busselton Jetty Underwater Observatory 
has been voted the best aquarium in the 
South Pacific by reviewers of travel website 
TripAdvisor

The Cape Leeuwin Lighthouse is situated in 
the most south westerly tip of Australia, where 
the Indian and Southern Ocean meets

The South West is home to Australia’s only 
silicon producer
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The SunSmart Busselton Festival of Triathlon is just one of many events held in the South West region.
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STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

Our strategic priorities

This section provides an overview of the 
key activities that have taken place in our 
strategic priority areas of:

•	  Infrastructure 

•	  Industry and Business 

•	  People and Place 

•	  Community 

Though each of these areas is given their own portfolios 
on paper, in reality they are all interlinked. Industry and 
Place are linked, Community and Business are linked, 
and so on. Everything is connected and no strategic 
area alone can achieve liveability for our cities and towns 
without the other. 

In order to be able to live where we can enjoy high 
quality of life, we need jobs so that we can afford to live 
there in the first place – otherwise we would be forced 
to move elsewhere. And even if we could afford to live 
there because we are financially well off, we cannot 
enjoy complete wellbeing if we are not connected to our 
communities and have access to the right services. And 
so on. 

Each of our strategic priorities is important in delivering a 
liveable region that is a great place in which to live, work 
and invest.

The Let’s Get Moving group gave parents in Withers the opportunity to walk not only for fitness, 
but for fun and friendship as well. Pictured are Narelle Cowlishaw, Pam Macnish and Shona Lever.
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SOUTH WEST REGIONAL BLUEPRINT
implementation objective

Growing our jobs 
and prosperity

Growing our  
quality of life

Improve transport 
capacity

Improve broadband 
capacity

Available industrial 
land

Build water 
capacity

Sustainable energy 
supply

INFRASTRUCTURE CAPACITY − BUILDING THE FOUNDATION
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and places

The South West region of Australia 
A REGION OF EXCELLENCE

Community and 
industry leadership

Workforce participation 
and development



26

OUR STRATEGIC 
PRIORITIES INFRASTRUCTURE INDUSTRY AND 

BUSINESS
PEOPLE AND 

PLACE COMMUNITY

INFRASTRUCTURE

We develop distance neutral 
infrastructure that is linked 
to world opportunities and 
respects our environment.

Challenge

More people are predicted to call the region home in the 
future. Therefore, there is an urgent need to ensure that 
our infrastructure provides a safe environment for people 
to live in, a productive environment in which to conduct 
business, and an environment which stimulates new 
industry opportunities.

Highlights

•	  Funding is secured for expanding the Busselton 
airport to accommodate interstate flights

•	  The first stage of the Margaret River Perimeter Road 
opens to traffic

•	  Twenty five new sites in the region are on the way to 
receiving better mobile coverage

•	  Funding is achieved for improving the sewerage 
system at Boyup Brook

•	  Plans to transform Bunbury’s waterfront enter the next 
phase

Snapshot of what’s on the horizon for 
2015/16

•	  Unveil the master plan for transforming Bunbury’s 
waterfront 

•	  Identify funding options for remaining locations that 
require mobile coverage

•	  Facilitate expansion of wifi networks in town centres, 
and encourage a rapid rollout of the NBN

93
77Key Clients

Local Government

Scorecard – How our clients rated our 
performance

Donna West from the Department of Transport talks about marinas to David Kerr from the Bunbury Marine Facilities 
Alliance, SWDC’s Ashley Clements and Bunbury MLA John Castrilli as part of planning for a marina at Bunbury.
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Over the past 12 months, we laid the groundwork for 
meeting the region’s long-term critical infrastructure 
needs. We did so on transport, telecommunications and 
community fronts, placing a particular interest on driving 
and supporting large-scale projects which are expected to 
net significant economic and community gains now and in 
the years ahead.

Transport infrastructure

Establishing efficient sea and airport links with the view 
to opening the region to new markets and facilitating 
economic growth was a major theme of our work in the 
reporting period and we are delighted with the milestones 
reached in this area. 

To start with, years of work in building the case for the 
expansion of the Busselton airport paid off when the State 
Government gave the green light for the $59.7million 
project. In June it was announced that by 2018 people 
would be able to fly directly from the eastern states to 
the region, a potentially game-changing development 
which is expected to serve as a catalyst for increasing 
tourism and business. Having overseen the complex task 
of putting together the business case, which involved 
the coordination of a steering committee and numerous 
reports, we were elated to see this project move closer to 
construction.

Also moving forward over the past 12 months was a 
Royalties for Regions-aided investigation into the options 
for potentially rerouting part of the Preston River in order 
to facilitate the further expansion of the Bunbury Port. 
The realignment of the water body is a pre-requisite for 
an expansion at the harbour, a development which is 

expected to provide room for industry to grow. About 85 
per cent of the design stage of the project was completed 
in the reporting period.  It’s anticipated the final design 
work will be presented in late 2015. 

Both the planned sea and airport expansions will provide 
platforms for increasing trade and investment, and we 
look forward to them coming to fruition in the years 
ahead. In the meantime, we are pleased to report that 
progress tracked well on other transport infrastructure 
projects we are involved with.

For example, the first stage of the Margaret River 
Perimeter Road was completed in May, after getting 
underway in December with the aid of $2.5million from us. 
The project involved construction of 1.8 kilometres of road 
between Bussell Highway and Rosa Brook Road, and 
incorporated a large roundabout on the Bussell Highway, 
an industrial access and a connection to Rosa Brook.

We took the lead role in securing funds for the second 
stage of the project, which we envision will incorporate 
an extension of John Archibald Drive and improvements 
to the amenity of the main street. The business case for 
the project, which was jointly developed with Main Roads 
and the Shire of Augusta-Margaret River, was completed. 
All land and environmental approvals for stage two were 
received. 

Once the perimeter road and works are finished, an 
alternative route for heavy vehicles which currently 
travel through the town centre will be created, leading 
to improved safety for local traffic and pedestrians. We 
expect this, coupled with the enhancements planned 
for the town centre, will boost the town’s overall 
competitiveness as a tourist destination ahead of the 

completion of the Busselton airport expansion.

The new $36.47million Augusta boat harbour was 
officially opened in November, after almost three years 
of construction involving the creation of 2.8 hectares of 
sheltered water. The facility, which offers a much-needed 
safe haven for vessels between Albany and Busselton 
and is designed to grow with demand for boat pens as 
the population increases, has been valuable in supporting 
the region’s recreational, commercial, tourism and rescue 
boating fleet. 

About 28 of the available 40 pens at the Augusta Boat 
Harbour have been taken up on an annual hiring basis 
by a mix of commercial fishing and recreational vessels.  
There are currently a number of pens available for casual 
hiring, with the number of visiting vessels having increased 
significantly since the harbour opened last November.  
Five charter/whale watching vessels have been operating 
from the harbour since May 2015, and the facility has 
been added to the list of the region’s attractions for 
people to visit.

Telecommunications infrastructure

While transport projects were a focus for us, we also 
pursued our infrastructure agenda in other areas in 
line with our strategic attempts to build the region’s 
competitive advantage, as well as support growth and 
prosperity.

In 2014/15, our call for improved telecommunications was 
answered and we are therefore able to report a significant 
win with our efforts to provide the South West with a 
competitive edge via enhancing telecommunications. 
The majority of locations highlighted in the South West 
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Regional Blueprint as places where there is a significant 

lack of mobile coverage were earmarked to receive 

mobile phone towers. As a result of our behind-the-

scenes work to secure funding through the Regional 

Telecommunications Project and Mobile Black Spot 

Program, 25 locations listed in the blueprint are now 

on the way to receiving better coverage. The wins 

were made after we liaised with stakeholders about 

telecommunications needs and put forward a set of 

priority mobile tower locations for funding consideration. 

Our recent success in this area of our work followed 

similar victories we had in 2011/12, and form part of our 

overall efforts to elevate the region’s competitive edge, 

improve safety and aid the delivery of emergency services. 

In line with our efforts to ensure that the region is able to 

participate effectively in the digital economy and remain 

competitive in the global market, we also continued to 

push for our communities to be connected to superfast 

internet. We will continue to advocate for the early rollout 

of the national broadband network to the South West 

in recognition of the importance of faster internet to the 

region’s industries, including the burgeoning creative 

sector which we are aiming to grow.

Community infrastructure

To ensure our towns and cities are able to thrive, we 

played a key role in community infrastructure projects that 

pave the way for growth and development. 

For instance, we were able to celebrate the State 

Government’s $6.7million commitment to improving 

the sewerage system in Boyup Brook. Through the 

State’s infill sewerage program, 242 residential lots in 

the town will be connected to a septic tank effluent 
disposal scheme. The development will unlock growth 
opportunities for the town as it will make it possible to 
subdivide land to smaller lots. The announcement in May 
came after we paved the way for the project by teaming 
up with LandCorp and the Shire of Boyup Brook to fund a 
pre-feasibility study.

And the Transforming Bunbury’s Waterfront project, 
which we are coordinating, moved into the next phase 
of planning. A key development for the project, which 
involves enhancing facilities from Casuarina Harbour 
to Koombana Bay and the creation of a contemporary 
marina, was the allocation of $1million in Royalties for 
Regions funding towards completing the environmental 
studies required for the project to move into the next 
phase. 

Other notable aspects in the progression of the Bunbury 
waterfront project in 2014/15 included the appointment 
of consultants to undertake strategic planning of areas in 
the Casuarina Harbour and the Outer Harbour. Linked to 
this, we also gave the public the chance to have their say 
about how they wanted the areas used in the future. Once 
complete, we expect the new-look waterfront to boost the 
local tourism and marine industries, as well as improve 
public access.

Coordination of infrastructure projects in the region 
formed an important part of our work. In this regard, 
we established a regional headworks working group to 
improve planning for key utilities. The first meeting was 
held in October, and brought together local government 
representatives, regulators and planners. An early win 
was a commitment to move forward funding for a new 
pumping station at Donnybrook, an initiative which will 

allow more residential land to be developed in close 
proximity to the town centre.

Similarly, we reestablished the South West Infrastructure 
Group for the purpose of coordinating the delivery 
of infrastructure projects identified in the blueprint. 
Comprising representatives from key infrastructure 
delivery agencies in the region, the committee was 
successful in preparing a successful business case for the 
upgrade to the Ferguson Valley Tourism Route. Through 
the Royalties for Regions – Growing Our South fund, the 
project was allocated $1.7million which will go towards 
upgrading and sealing a 3.73 kilometre gravel section of 
Pile-Mungalup Road. The road connects the Ferguson 
Valley and Wellington National Park, and once upgraded 
is expected to improve access, safety and travel time. It 
will also provide an alternative route between Bunbury and 
Collie.

DID YOU KNOW
Road building materials for the Margaret 
River Perimeter Road were sourced south 
of Margaret River so as not to increase the 
number of heavy vehicles travelling through 
the town centre during the summer months.
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Busselton airport expansion plans 
take off
News that people will soon be able to fly directly from 
the eastern states into the South West may have come 
as a pleasant surprise to some people, but in reality the 
announcement was years in the making.

Building the case for the expansion of the Busselton 
regional airport took years of work in partnership with the 
City of Busselton and other stakeholders.

So you can imagine how thrilled we were when Premier 
Colin Barnett and Regional Development Minister Terry 
Redman visited the airport on June 20 to announce the 
$59.7million project.

It meant that all our hard work behind the scenes, 
including the development of a business case, had 
paid off, resulting in one of our most significant wins for 
2014/15.

And even though securing funding for the project – 
which will involve the purchase of land, lengthening and 
widening of the runway, and expansion of the car park 
and terminal – was a major, blueprint-aligned achievement 
for us, the best part is still to come.

The expansion, together with projects designed to 
increase the appeal of the region – such as Margaret 
River Perimeter Road and planned makeover of Margaret 
River’s main street – is expected to provide a catalyst for 
exciting new opportunities for the South West in the near 
future.

From 2018, interstate visitors will be able to fly directly 
to the South West − one of Western Australia’s premier 
tourism regions − without having to travel by car from 

Perth for holidays and to attend major events, taking the 
region’s tourism potential to a new level.

We expect the expansion will open up the South West to 
new markets, unlocking fresh tourism, business and job 
opportunities for our growing region.

Here at SWDC, we look forward to continuing to work 
with the City of Busselton to facilitate and monitor the 
delivery of this project.

FAST FACT
By 2033, 112,619 passengers could be flying into 
Busselton airport each year.

PROJECT IN FOCUS

DID YOU KNOW
The Busselton airport expansion project will be 
made possible with $45.9million from the State 
Government's Royalties for Regions-Growing 
our South program, $10million from the 
Department of Transport, $3.5million from the 
City of Busselton and $300,000 from the South 
West Development Commission.

?
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South West Development Commission chairman Stuart Hicks, Premier Colin Barnett and Regional Development Minister Terry Redman 
at the announcement of funding for the Busselton airport expansion.
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INDUSTRY AND BUSINESS

We work to support a broad, 
internationally-engaged industry 
base that is business ready 
and positioned to engage with 
markets in Asia.

Challenge

With up to 200,000 new jobs required to support a 
possible population of 500,000 in 2050, the pressure is on 
to generate new and diverse employment opportunities.

Highlights

•	  A memorandum of understanding is signed to facilitate 
the building of Western Australia’s largest film and 
animation studios

•	  A sister cave relationship agreement is formalised 
between the Margaret River Tourism Association and the 
People’s Committee of Quang Binh Province

•	  An action plan that aims to grow the region’s agricultural 
sector is released

•	  A record number of events benefit through our South 
West Community Events Program

•	  Local businesses are connected to overseas markets

Snapshot of what’s on the horizon for 
2015/16

•	  Hold a South West Focus conference and smaller 
briefing sessions throughout the year which highlight 
potential future opportunities

•	  Launch a new website that promotes business 
between the region and China

•	  Increase the funding pool for the South West 
Community Events Program89

81Key Clients

Local Government

Scorecard – How our clients rated our 
performance

The South West has a lot to offer the rest of the world – and to help get the word out about its qualities, we often 
showcase the region to visiting industry representatives. Pictured: Jessie Qian, Willa Yang and Ben Moroney in 
Margaret River with the South West Development Commission’s Simon Taylor.
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Thanks to population growth and the forces of economic 
globalisation, we are increasingly looking beyond our 
borders for opportunities to thrive. As a result, we have 
strived to open up our region to new domestic and 
international industry and business prospects in order to 
stimulate economic growth, generate new and diverse job 
opportunities, and safeguard prosperity. 

With Asia – especially China and Vietnam – as a prime 
target, we employed a number of mechanisms over the 
course of 2014/15 that were designed to bring about the 
conditions necessary for locals to successfully engage in 
the global market. Increased support for our TradeStart 
and Bunbury-Jiaxing Business Office arms, coupled 
with our endeavours to strengthen international relations 
and build the region’s competitive edge, were integral 
to the headway made in opening doors for the region’s 
industries and businesses.

Establishing platforms for growth

A highlight for us was establishing and maintaining 
international connections that have the capacity to 
provide platforms for trade and investment. For example, 
we teamed up with the City of Bunbury in October to 
sign an agreement with Bunbury-based creative studio 
Vue Group and leading Chinese film producer Shanghai 
Hippo Animation to facilitate the building of the state’s 
largest movie animation and film studios in Bunbury. Once 
complete, the film studio and onsite academy is expected 
to result in job and training opportunities for South West 
residents. 

Following on from this, we inked a deal with Jiaxing’s 
department of commerce that aims to promote economic 

activity between the South West and its sister city and 
surrounding towns and cities in China. The memorandum 
of understanding conveyed a message to residents 
of South East China that the South West of Western 
Australia is a region they can confidently do business with. 
Meanwhile, Margaret River formally signed a sister city 
relationship agreement with the City of Haining.

Similarly, we facilitated a sister cave agreement between 
the Augusta Margaret River Tourism Association and 
the People’s Committee of Quang Binh Province. The 
arrangement, which was made official in February, 
pertains to a number of collaborations including cross 
promotion of the caves in the Margaret River region and 
Phong Nha-Ke Bang National Park. Excitingly, there are 
plans to create virtual reality tours of the caves.

We also set the scene for expanding the local agricultural 
sector through the development of an action plan 
intended to better position the region to take advantage 
of market opportunities and attract further investment 
from Asia. The document, which was prepared by Deloitte 
Access Economics and took into account industry views, 
was released against a backdrop of new investment by 
China in the region’s agricultural businesses. The report 
outlines key strategies for leading the region into greener, 
more lucrative pastures.

Fostering trade and investment

Day-to-day, our TradeStart officers worked to unearth 
new markets for the region’s businesses by linking them 
with potential buyers. In achieving this end, we hosted 
delegations of visiting trade representatives. In November, 
for instance, we aimed to tempt the influential taste buds 

of buyers from Indonesia and Vietnam by connecting 
them with local wineries during a culinary trail program 
organised around high-profile foodie festival Margaret 
River Gourmet Escape. And in March, we teamed up 
with Wine Australia to show a group of trade and media 
representatives, as well as educators around the Margaret 
River wine region. Both events provided an excellent 
opportunity for local producers to connect with people 
who they may be able to form business partnerships with, 
while promoting the region as a quality culinary tourism 
destination. 

We also aimed to foster investment in the domestic 
market. Case in point: Joining forces with the Department 
of Agriculture and Food to facilitate a visit to Western 
Australia and the South West by department store David 
Jones. The retailer stopped in Perth and the South 
West to source premium products for its food halls 
and associated cafes, and we were able to coordinate 
meetings and a showcase of goods for representatives 
from the company. 

Complementing the activities of our TradeStart office was 
our support for the Bunbury-Jiaxing Business Office, 
which provides an important strategic portal between 
Bunbury – and the wider  South West – and its sister 
city in China of the past 15 years. The office, which has 
an agreement to act on behalf of the Australia Chinese 
Business Council (WA), offered a variety of services 
including the facilitation of trade partnerships, cultural 
awareness and translation. The Mandarin language 
classes provided by the office in 2014/15, which were 
booked out, are an example of a way the office gave local 
people intending to do business with China a competitive 
edge in the global market.
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Building tourism

With the intention of setting the scene for further 
investment in the region, we supported initiatives 
designed not only to attract more visitors to the South 
West, but also lengthen the time they stay in the region 
and increase the amount they spend while here. We did 
so via supporting promotion and the creation of unique 
and world-class experiences.  To this end, we have 
completed or neared completion of a number of business 
cases for projects that are underlined in our Tourism 
Futures South West action plan as initiatives expected to 
lift the region’s attractiveness to tourists. 

Other highlights of our work in the tourism arena included 
being involved in the development of a sub-regional 
tourism strategy for Bunbury-Wellington and Boyup 
Brook, and the allocation of funding to a restoration 
project involving the removal of asbestos that will position 
the popular Cape Leeuwin Lighthouse precinct as a major 
tourist draw card for years to come.

We also continued to coordinate the South West Cruise 
Alliance, which has again marketed Bunbury, Busselton 
and Augusta to cruise companies around the world. 
Furthermore, we worked behind the scenes to ensure that 
passengers aboard the first cruise ship to visit Busselton 
received a warm welcome. Ahead of the arrival of the 
Diamond Princess on November 27, we got behind 
workshops that were held to prepare businesses and 
organisations for the city’s first official cruise ship visit. In 
addition, we contributed funding towards maps that were 
handed out to passengers once they were ashore, and 
were part of the delegation which went aboard to officially 
greet the captain. 

Encouragingly, one of the world’s top touring vessels, 
the Queen Mary 2, is scheduled to dock at Busselton 
in February 2017. Being listed on the itinerary of such 
a high-profile cruise ship will further solidify the region’s 
status as a holiday destination and introduce the South 
West to a new crowd who may be inspired to return in the 
future.

Still on tourism, we acted quickly when a major bushfire 
– one of the state’s worst – devastated areas around the 
town of Northcliffe, negatively impacting on the tourism 
industry. To promote tourism recovery, we provided 
financial assistance to the visitor centres in Northcliffe-
Nornalup and Walpole.

Supporting events

As events put the South West in the spotlight, attract 
visitors to the region and boost the economies of the 
places they are held in, we again supported local events. 
Though our annual events funding program – this year 
renamed the South West Community Events Program – 
we allocated a share of $110,750 to 56 festivals, concerts 
and exhibitions. What’s more, we extended a helping hand 
outside the program to support larger events including 
the Emergence Creative Festival, and began coordinating 
planning for the 2015 South West Focus conference.

It was fantastic to see so many events flourish with our 
support. The 2014 CinefestOZ film festival, for example, 
enjoyed record attendances of more than 18,000, 
with 52.5 per cent of visitors coming from outside the 
region. It also presented Australia’s richest film prize, 
the $100,000 CinefestOZ Film Prize, to family-friendly 
Australian flick Paper Planes, and attracted a long list of 

industry luminaries including this year’s CinefestOZ Screen 

Legend Joel Edgerton. Many of the stars which attended 

CinefestOZ were seen out and about sampling what the 

region has to offer, thereby promoting the South West as 

a quality holiday destination.

Events, like our trade delegations, were successful in 

generating publicity for the region. Some of our activities 

in this area served cross purposes. For example, having 

sponsored Bunbury’s Re.Discover street art exhibition, 

we were thrilled when a visiting Meworld Media and 

Education crew took up our suggestion to film the 

artworks for a Vietnamese television show. Likewise, we 

showcased the region to producers and scriptwriters 

visiting the region for CinefestOZ in the hope they think 

of the South West of WA when they work on their next 

creative project.

Strengthening industry sectors

As well as trade, tourism and events, our team had a 

hand in developing emerging and growth industries in 

the South West, with the agricultural and the creative 

sectors particularly benefiting from our attention. In terms 

of agriculture, we worked to support the development 

of the sector in a number of ways including through 

our assistance to Western Dairy in holding workshops 

in Bunbury, Busselton and Denmark which aimed 

to boost the business skills of local dairies for the 

purpose of maximising profit potential. It’s worth noting 

that businesses in the Southern Forests took up the 

opportunity to co-brand their produce with the Genuinely 

Southern Forests logo, an initiative made possible by 

the Royalties for Regions-funded Southern Forests Food 
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Council.

In supporting local businesses, we teamed up with the 

South West Chambers of Commerce and Industry to 

undertake a survey of businesses in order to determine 

how best to support local enterprises in the future. And in 

encouraging excellence in business, we also supported 

the South West Small Business Awards by sponsoring 

the tourism prize won by the Colliefields Café. Similarly, 

we sponsored two prizes that were awarded at this year’s 

Edith Cowan University – South West Campus graduation.

Nurturing the growth of the region’s 
emerging film sector

They say from small things, big things grow – and nobody 
is a bigger believer in this saying than us. From seeds we 
planted years ago, the South West is now beginning to 
reap the fruits of our vision to create a filmmaking industry 
in the region.

Having funded the establishment of state-of-the-art 
infrastructure in the new Bunbury library with the view to 
encouraging a filmmaking company to set up shop in the 
region, we were delighted when an international digital 
animation and special effects venture set up operations in 
the building in 2009/10. 

Flash-forward to 2014/15, and we are working alongside 
this same company, Vue Group, to facilitate the building 
of the state’s largest movie animation and film studios in 
Bunbury. 

On October 30 2014, SWDC and the City of Bunbury 
signed an agreement to work with joint venture partners 
Vue Group and China-based Shanghai Hippo Animation to 
work towards making the multi-million dollar infrastructure 
dream a reality. Though it will be some time before the 
studio and its training academy is built, we have had a 
taste of things to come from this partnership with the 
release of two animated movies.  Separate to this, but 
linked to Vue Group’s work, was the filming of scenes for 
the Chinese-French production Mountains May Depart in 
Bunbury during the financial year.

Similarly, having teamed up with Royalties for Regions to 
provide funding towards the first motion picture to be shot 
in the region, we are thrilled the South West is increasingly 

being looked at as a potential filming location. Since 

the surfing-themed movie Drift was shot in the region in 

2011, the Simon Pegg-fronted dark comedic thriller Kill 

Me Three Times was partially shot in the South West, and 

it has been announced a screen version of the award-

winning book Jasper Jones will go ahead in the second 

half of 2015. We have allocated $200,000 towards the 

filming of this murder mystery and coming-of-age story, 

which will be set in and around the region’s tall forests.

We expect our work in establishing a film industry in the 

region will boost the economy, present unique new career 

and training opportunities, and help to elevate the region’s 

world profile.

PROJECT IN FOCUS

Vu To and Hai To from Meworld Media and Education prepare to film 
a segment on Bunbury street art festival Re.Discover for a Vietnamese 
television show with assistance from Mark Exeter from SWDC.
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DID YOU KNOW
As a result of us introducing Picardy Wines 
to an international buyer during a tour of 
the region during the 2013 Margaret River 
Gourmet Escape, the Pemberton winery sent 
its first shipment of chardonnay to China in 
2014/15. Pictured is Bill Pannell.

?
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PEOPLE AND PLACE

Challenge

Offering amenity and lifestyle opportunities for people at 
every stage of life is critical in supporting the growth of the 
region’s population to a possible 500,000 people by 2050.

Highlights

•	 Collie, Manjimup and Margaret River continue to benefit 
from the SuperTowns program

•	 The appeal of Withers as a family-friendly suburb is 
enhanced through urban renewal

•	 Funding is achieved for four aged accommodation 
projects in the region

•	 Further age-friendly studies are completed

•	 An affordable housing action plan for the region is 
completed

Snapshot of what’s on the horizon for 
2015/16

•	 Hold a housing-themed Critical Horizons conference

•	 Finalise a local area plan for Withers for the purpose 
of triggering structural change in road and path 
layouts and housing density

•	 Support the next phase of the Regional Centres 
Development Plan including the creation of an 
economic growth plan for the regional centre of 
Greater Bunbury, as well implementation of the 
second stage of the SuperTowns program

96
88Key Clients

Local Government

Scorecard – How our clients rated our 
performance

We seek to develop a region 
of first choice, building 
population and improving 
amenity.An artist’s impression of what the Collie Early Education Centre will look like once completed.
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In the face of population growth, we vigorously pursued 
opportunities to connect people and place for the purpose 
of creating communities that are highly liveable, now 
and in the future. Integral to our work in attracting and 
retaining residents were initiatives that will enable people 
of every age to enjoy quality of life and pursue a diverse 
range of lifestyle opportunities.

Creating communities for life

We were particularly successful in our efforts to ensure the 
region remains an affordable and age-friendly place to live, 
even as the percentage of over 65s in the region spikes 
in the years ahead. As a result of the business cases we 
put forward, three aged accommodation projects were 
allocated funding through the $600million Royalties for 
Regions – Growing Our South initiative. 

A total of $1.2million will lead to four new aged 
accommodation units being built in Northcliffe, while 
$1.3million will assist the construction of three units in 
Pemberton. Additionally, $4.8million will fund the South 
West Ageing in Place Pilot, a project which will see 26 
independent living units built in Dardanup and Boyanup. 
Once complete, more people will have the option of 
remaining in the communities they call home as they 
become older instead of having to move away from 
support networks to a bigger, better equipped town or 
city.

Linked to our work in identifying a solution to the 
accommodation needs of the region’s ageing residents, 
but encompassing the needs of a wider demographic, 
was our aspiration to ensure the long-term availability of 
affordable accommodation in the South West. To this end, 

we teamed up with the Department of Housing to develop 
an affordable housing action plan for the South West. 
This plan was finalised in the reporting year, and once 
it has been endorsed in early 2015/16 a working group 
will be established to prioritise the implementation of the 
recommended actions in the report.

In meeting our aim of achieving liveable communities, we 
supported the Shire of Donnybrook-Balingup to carry out 
an age-friendly community study. The report that came 
out of the study sets out a number of recommendations 
for delivering better social and physical infrastructure as 
well as services in the district. 

The Age Friendly Community Study by the Shire of 
Donnybrook-Balingup is the latest to be delivered by a 
local government in the region, following the publication in 
2010 of our South West Active Ageing Research Project, 
which highlighted what can be done to assist people to 
age actively and promote the inclusion of seniors in all 
areas of community life. 

We are pleased to report that most local governments in 
the region have now completed an age-friendly study to 
assist with planning. The Shire of Capel, which was one 
of the first to deliver an age-friendly plan, has gone to the 
next stage and reviewed and updated its plan. Meanwhile, 
the City of Bunbury and shires of Harvey and Dardanup 
have teamed up with our support to ensure an age-
friendly plan is carried out for the benefit of the citizens of 
Greater Bunbury.

Building communities of first choice

We continued to embrace opportunities to develop 
communities that people choose to live in because of the 

level of amenity and lifestyle options available to them. In 

meeting this end, we were involved in projects that aimed 

to breathe new life into suburbs, towns and cities. In the 

reporting year, the transformation of the three SuperTowns 

of Collie, Manjimup and Margaret River was clearly evident 

after many years of planning and carrying out works. 

Achievements of the SuperTowns program in the South 

West during the reporting period included construction 

of the southern leg of the Margaret River Perimeter Road 

which will encourage trucks to travel around the town 

centre instead of through the main street, the coal mining 

town of Collie’s cultural heart being revealed with the 

opening of the town’s first purpose-built art gallery, and 

Manjimup increasing the accessibility to its town centre by 

reopening the Ipsen Street intersection between Mottram 

and Giblett streets.

In the regional capital of Bunbury, our Withers Urban 

Renewal Strategy was having a positive impact in the 

suburb of Withers. Park upgrades, including those to Des 

Ugle Park, improved the overall look and liveability of the 

neighbourhood. To ensure the parks flourish even further, 

we allocated further funding towards reticulation at Des 

Ugle Park as well as native planting at Moriarty Park. In 

addition, CCTV was switched on with the intention of 

improving safety by discouraging crime and antisocial 

behaviour.

Other upgrades took place around the region with the 

view to creating more appealing places to live. For 

example, the redevelopment of the Collie swimming pool 

complex moved forward, and completed upgrades to 

equipment at the Margaret River Cultural Centre improved 

the facility’s capacity.

file:C:\Users\corpcommoff\Desktop\Annual%20Report\AnnualReport2014-15%20Folder\Links\South%20West%20Active%20Ageing.pdf
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Improvements to community infrastructure also enhanced 

people’s connection to place, whilst simultaneously 

providing them with opportunities to follow their interests 

and take up attractive lifestyle options. For example, we 

repaired an SWDC-owned jetty in Bunbury’s Leschenault 

Inlet so that the structure could be reopened and once 

again be used by families wanting a sheltered area in 

which to cast a line. 

A vision to connect Greater Bunbury with a shared path 

network progressed well, with the Greater Bunbury 

Master Plan Working Group turning its attention to its 

next priority project: a pathway along Bussell Highway 

between Washington Avenue and Hasties Road. This is a 

very busy stretch of road which connects Dalyellup and 

Gelorup to Bunbury and includes the Bunbury Cathedral 

Grammar School campus. The City of Bunbury and the 

working group, which we facilitate, were successful 

in securing funding for the survey, design and ground 

investigation components of the project. The group, which 

previously had success with putting in place a cycleway 

along Parade Road between Bunbury and Dalyellup, also 

commenced planning for a road safety audit along this 

stretch of Bussell Highway.

Fostering a sense of place

Our efforts to connect people and place weren’t solely 

focused on planning for the future and creating new and 

improved facilities. We were also conscious of nurturing a 

sense of place and forging identity. For these purposes, 

we championed efforts to preserve the story of the region. 

In meeting this end, we once again facilitated the Working 

Life Heritage Trail. A link of attractions around the region 

which offer a window into how the South West was 

shaped, we are pleased to report the trail grew by two 

sites in 2014/15. Both the ArtGeo Cultural Complex in 

Busselton and the Margaret River Old Settlement joined 

the network in the reporting year and benefited from the 

cross-promotion that comes with being part of the trail.

Fran Goodman and Diana McGirr from the ArtGeo Cultural Complex, which is now part of the Working Life Heritage Trail.
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The revitalisation increasing the appeal 
of Collie as a place to live

Of the three SuperTowns in the South West, 2014/15 was 
Collie’s year’s to shine.

We are pleased to report that the coal mining town was 
a buzz of activity and excitement as projects linked to 
the Royalties for Regions-SuperTowns program, which is 
facilitated in the South West by SWDC, made headway or 
were completed.

The town’s cultural heart emerged with the opening of a 
new art gallery, while initiatives such as the installation 
of underground power in the town’s two main streets 
aided in the creation of a more appealing-looking central 
business district.

Underway were street works, a new child care centre, and 
planning for a central park featuring a water playground.

The ventures built on the success of projects completed 
in previous financial years including a skate park which 
has been a hit with the town’s younger residents, and the 
reopening of the railway footbridge which reconnected the 
north and south of town.

The initiatives were all part of efforts to help shake off 
Collie’s reputation as just a coal mining town where many 
people might drive in and out for work each day, but not 
necessarily choose to live.

The accomplishments follow the endorsement of a 
SuperTowns growth plan for the town in 2012 which 
identified the services, amenities and infrastructure 
needed to reach and support its potential.

The SuperTowns – or Regional Centres Development Plan 
– was announced in 2011 to give selected communities 
the opportunity to plan and implement projects and 
services to cater for the major population growth forecast 
for the state.

By laying the groundwork to kick-start transformational 
projects in nine key towns in Western Australia, it was 
expected SuperTowns would offer more opportunities 
and amenities for people who choose to live in the state’s 
regional areas and provide an attractive alternative to 
living in Perth, encouraging the decentralisation of the 
State's population.

PROJECT IN FOCUS

DID YOU KNOW
We are sponsoring one of the Collie Art 
Gallery’s first major exhibitions – Arthur 
Boyd: An Active Witness. As the gallery 
is the only venue in Western Australia to 
showcase the prestigious collection, it is 
expected to draw art lovers from around 
the region as well as further afield.

?Collie Art Gallery chair Lisa Lindsay and gallery director Sarah Stanley take a look at the Pinjarra Massacre Memorial exhibition.
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COMMUNITY

Challenge

As the population increases and our communities become 
bigger, how do we maintain a sense of community, and 
ensure all people are connected to the places they live, 
have opportunities to be included in community life, and 
are equipped and motivated to take on leadership roles?

Highlights

•	 Two Royalties for Regions programs fund local groups to 
carry out community projects

•	 Twenty residents aged 18 to 25 benefit from the South 
West Young Achievers Program 

•	 Placemaking activities in the Bunbury suburb of Withers 
create community connections

•	 Volunteers are supported in a number of ways including 
through funding for events

•	 Roelands Village offers new training and employment 
opportunities for Noongar people

Snapshot of what’s on the horizon for 
2015/16

•	 Continue to grow Roelands Village as a centre for 
education, learning and leadership

•	 Continue to nurture leadership in the region’s young 
people through the South West Young Achievers 
Program

•	 Provide regional community emergency response 
trailers to aid in building the capacity of volunteers to 
respond to natural disasters

100
90Key Clients

Local Government

Scorecard – How our clients rated our 
performance

We drive and support agendas 
that promote cohesive, vibrant 
and engaged communities.

Jason Lewis and Anthony Twigger are part of the Sail into Life program, which provides opportunities for people 
with disabilities to get out on the water.
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Our work in the Community portfolio is about equipping 
people so they are able to positively contribute to and 
be part of the places they live in. Consequently, we have 
driven and backed projects that aim to support citizens in 
playing a role in creating cohesive, vibrant and engaged 
communities.

Let us share with you some examples of how we served 
to empower residents to tackle the challenges of today 
and tomorrow, make a valuable contribution to the 
communities they live in, and enjoy full lives characterised 
by high levels of wellbeing. 

Strengthening communities

Throughout 2014/15, we aimed to enhance the 
capabilities of the not-for-profit sector to deliver 
community services. Central to our work in this area 
was the way two Royalties for Regions grants programs 
allowed us to funnel funding into local-scale projects, 
which in turn provided groups around the South West 
with the means to add value to their communities. Thanks 
to both the Community Chest Fund and Regional Grants 
Scheme, organisations received financial assistance to 
get community projects off the ground and carry out 
vital community services. For example, Bunbury’s Intown 
Centre now has more money to help people in need as 
a result of installing Royalties for Regions-funded solar 
panels and reducing the amount it spends on electricity.

As volunteers are valuable and free resources who assist 
not-for-profit organisations to function successfully, we 
found ways to support people who volunteer their time 
and skills to make their communities even better places 
to be. Through the Community Chest Fund, for instance, 

we distributed grants that enabled volunteer-driven 
groups to have the tools they need to provide services 
that enrich the fabric of our society. By way of example, 
money provided to the Harvey-Brunswick-Leschenault 
Football Club towards upgrading its coolroom equipment 
guaranteed the club could continue providing meals that 
bring people in the community together.

In a similar vein, funding which went to upgrading 
buildings used by community organisations resulted in 
more attractive places in which to work, enhancing their 
appeal. A number of organisations based in expanded 
or improved premises reported more people putting 
their hands up to volunteer, leading to improved service 
provision capacity. For example, the Harvey Senior 
Citizens Centre reported an increase in volunteers, as well 
as groups using its premises for activities, after its building 
was refreshed. Likewise, there has been a rise in the 
number of people signing up to help out at the Bunbury 
Regional Entertainment Centre since its expansion was 
completed in 2013/14.

Our support of the work undertaken by volunteers was 
also visible through our backing of community events. 
The Val Lishman Health Research Foundation-organised 
Qube Truck Pull and Festival is a terrific example of 
how our financial aid resulted in significant gains for the 
community. The event, which was boosted with $2000 
from our South West Community Events Program, drew 
thousands of people to Bunbury’s Bicentennial Square 
and raised more than $40,000 towards an autism 
spectrum research project which aims to benefit children 
with autism and their families. The fundraiser, which was 
driven by volunteers, displayed what can be done when 
the power of teamwork is harnessed to pull a truck and 

what a community can achieve when it teams up to 
achieve a common goal.

Our support of events took a poignant turn in 2014/15 
as a result of providing funding to the Friends of the 
Darradup Community’s Music in the Vineyard concert. The 
event, which was managed by volunteers and attended 
by more than 200 people including volunteer fire fighters, 
was a fundraiser that acted as a community celebration 
of the invaluable contribution made by members of 
volunteer bush fire brigades within the Nannup Shire. The 
concert occurred while the Northcliffe bushfire – while 
under control – remained active. This brought home the 
important role volunteers play in keeping our communities 
safe.

In building community strength, we also rallied behind 
enterprises that generate training and employment 

The Qube Truck Pull and Festival brought people together to raise 
funds for autism spectrum research.
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opportunities. With this in mind, we helped to set up of 

a landcare work team based out of the former Roelands 

Mission which is giving Noongar people employment 

opportunities. Moreover, we sponsored the Kambarang 

bush tucker feast that formed part of the Margaret River 

Gourmet Escape and presented Noongar people with 

training opportunities.

Additionally, we were pleased to provide Royalties for 

Regions – Community Chest Fund money towards Enable 

Southwest’s Jumpstart program which assisted 12 micro 

businesses to be set up in 2015 by disadvantaged people 
who may not have been employed otherwise.

Nurturing future leaders

In recognition of the important role the region’s young 
people will play in the years ahead, we supported a 
number of youth-orientated initiatives to help young 
people reach their potential. Consequently, we once 
again played a major role in the delivery of the South 
West Young Achievers Program which aims to nurture the 

development of tomorrow’s potential leaders. In support 
of this year’s three-day residential program, one of our 
staff members was on hand throughout the event to act 
as a mentor and offer support to the 20 participants. 
What was especially encouraging to see was the number 
of previous participants who assisted in the organisation 
and delivery of this year’s event, and the fact participants 
from this year’s program have indicated they would like to 
be involved in next year’s program.

In supporting the region’s young residents to reach their 
potential, we also continued to offer a helping hand to the 
South West Academy of Sport. During the year in review, 
a total of 87 South West teenagers received opportunities 
to flourish as both athletes and citizens. It was heartening 
to see so many of the teenagers in the academy give 
up their free time to participate in community initiatives 
including the SWAS-Telstra Fun Run Relay. An exciting 
achievement for the not-for-profit organisation was having 
one of its footballers embark on an AFL career after he 
was drafted into the Fremantle Dockers.

Communities for all

As everyone deserves to live a full and rewarding life, 
we supported initiatives designed to create inclusive 
communities where people with disabilities have similar 
opportunities to pursue their interests and talents as their 
more able-bodied peers. Putting funding towards the 
Rotary Sail into Life program, which gives people with 
disabilities the chance to enjoy the fun and freedom of 
sailing, is one example of our efforts to foster communities 
that are for everyone.

Syd Jackson at work at Roelands Village, which is being transformed with help from the South West Development Commission.
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Fostering community capacity and 
connections in a Bunbury neighbourhood

What makes a place appealing isn’t only how it looks, but 
also the strength of its community.

As a result, we have continued implementation of 
the placemaking component of our Withers Urban 
Renewal Strategy. Designed to breathe new life into the 
disadvantaged Bunbury suburb, the strategy involved 
devising and supporting a long-list of free events, 
workshops and groups that aimed to foster community 
capacity and connections.

In seeking to build the capability of local residents, we 
teamed up with local stakeholders to develop a variety of 
initiatives including a homework club for primary school 
students, which gave local children the opportunity to 
undertake their homework with the support of a qualified 
teacher. Similarly, a series of gardening and home 
maintenance workshops presented people with the 
chance to learn life skills.

Furthermore, we were involved in the establishment of 
groups and events that aimed to foster community spirit 
and cohesion. A walking group for parents and their 
children, as well as have-a-go circuit classes and an 
outdoor cinema screening in upgraded Des Ugle Park 
are just three examples of initiatives which served to 
strengthen the Withers community by encouraging people 
to come together and enjoy the increased vibrancy and 
improved amenity of their neighbourhood.

Another approach we took to sowing the seeds for a 
stronger community in Withers was via teaming up with 
the City of Bunbury to establish the Withers waterwise 

kitchen garden. Encouragingly, more than 80 people 
turned up at the official launch of the community asset 
and helped the garden grow by planting seedlings. An 
SWDC-supported Bubs and Grubs playgroup, which 
is based at the garden, gives young children – and 
their parents – the chance to socialise and learn about 
gardening. It is intended that local volunteers will manage 
the garden in the future, building further ownership of and 
pride in the suburb.

We believe the placemaking activities have had the bonus 
of helping to change perspectives about Withers amongst 
the people who live there.

PROJECT IN FOCUS

DID YOU KNOW
The action taken to revitalise Withers 
follows the creation of the Withers – A 
Village in the City report, a strategy 
to guide development and investment 
in the suburb. The creation of the 
plan, in conjunction with the City of 
Bunbury, came after considerable public 
consultation.

? Betty McCleary led a free 10-week have-a-go circuit class at 
the newly-upgraded Des Ugle Park in Withers.Kristy Tillett, Ross Oldham and Phil Harris from the City 

of Bunbury and SWDC chief executive officer Don Punch 
in the upgraded Des Ugle Park, which is set to look even 
better once reticulation is installed.
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HOW WE INVESTED IN THE REGION

Funding programs and grants

In the interest of transparency and showing 
how State Government money is spent, a 
complete list of grants we allocated during 
the fiscal year ending June 30 2015 has 
been provided.

The funding highlighted in the following pages has been 
distributed via a number of programs including the:

•	 Royalties for Regions – Community Chest Fund

•	 Royalties for Regions – Regional Grants Scheme

•	 South West Community Events Program

All contestable grants programs were supported by a 
public workshop series that people could attend to obtain 
information about the grants assessment process and 
completing a submission for funding.

Grants distributed through non-contestable means, or 
which were administered by the Commission, are also 
catalogued in this section.

Dylan Heasman and Allister Cant outside the Harvey-Brunswick-Leschenault Football Club, 
which received a Royalties for Regions grant.
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FUNDING PROGRAMS AND GRANTS

Community Chest Fund

Royalties for Regions is the State Government’s multi-

billion dollar program to help grow Western Australia’s 

regional areas into thriving and sustainable communities. 

Through the Royalties for Regions – Community Chest 

Fund, funding was offered to grassroots projects 

expected to make a positive impact on a local level in 

each of Western Australia’s regional areas. South West 

residents were encouraged to take up the opportunity 

to apply for one-off grants up to $20,000 from a total 

funding pool of $370,000.

Out of the 74 applications for funding we received, 32 

were successful in attaining grants.

Grant in focus

How our funding made a difference

Football clubs play an important role in our communities, 

bringing people together.

It’s for this reason we supported the Harvey-Brunswick-

Leschenault Football Club to upgrade its cool room 

equipment through a Royalties for Regions – Community 

Chest Fund grant.

Now the club has the equipment it needs to operate 

effectively, meaning locals will be able to continue enjoying 

a chat over a meal at the club, like they’ve been doing for 

years. 

Regional Grants Scheme

Complementary to the Community Chest Fund was the 

Royalties for Regions-backed Regional Grants Scheme 

which was aimed at supporting bigger projects in the 

state’s regions that attract investment, increase jobs or 

improve quality of life in the region. In the South West, 

organisations were able to apply for grants between 

$20,001 and $300,000 from a funding pot of $1.1million.

A total of 59 applications were received for funding 

through the South West component of the scheme, with 

14 projects receiving a slice of $987,931.66.

Grant in focus
How our funding made a difference

We believe that not only is it important to equip young 

members of our region with the skills they need for future 

success, but that there’s also room to grow the region’s 
creative industries.

Which is why we were so pleased to support a Murdoch 
University project that gave students at Bunbury’s Manea 
Senior College the opportunity to work with some of the 
film industry’s best and brightest to make their own movie.

During the filmmaking process, students had the 
opportunity to gain a range of skills and experience, with 
the view to perhaps being inspired to undertake further 
study and embarking on a career in the creative arts.

The short film is scheduled to premiere at the 2015 
CinefestOZ film festival. 

Elisha Gray and Hamish Halket were among the Manea Senior College students who had the opportunity to participate in a workshop 
with actor Myles Pollard as part of a film project at their school.
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South West Community Events 
Program

Our annual South West Community Events Program, 

which was modernised this year with the introduction of 

an online application system, provides financial assistance 

towards staging events that are expected to provide 

economic and community benefits to the region. From 

a total funding pool of $100,000, grants of up to $4000 

were available for hosting events, with another $2000 
available to pay event management fees. 

We received a record 80 formal requests for funding. Due 
to the unprecedented volume of high-quality submissions 
received, we increased the total amount of funding 
available to $110,750. This was $10,750 more than what 
was initially advertised and allowed us to extend a helping 
hand to a record 56 events. 

Grant in focus
How our funding made a difference

We’re big fans of events – and not just because they are 
fun to attend.

Events put our towns and cities on the map, encourage 
visitation to the region, provide an economic boost to the 
places they are held in, and help to create rich, vibrant 
communities that people want to be part of.

It’s for this reason that we provided financial assistance 
to events like the Boyup Brook Country Music Festival, 
which celebrated its 30th year in 2015 with performances 
by big names such as Tania Kernaghan and Troy Cassar-
Daley.

Over five days in February, Western Australia’s 
premier country music festival recorded about 12,000 
attendances. Not bad for a town with an estimated 
population of 1,648.
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The Boyup Brook Country Music Festival was one of 56 events which benefited from the South West Community Events Program.
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Non-contestable grants

We administered a total of 50 non-contestable grants in 
2014/15. A high percentage of these grants related to 
initiatives funded through our Withers Urban Renewal 
Strategy. 

Grant in focus
How our funding made a difference

During the year in review, we signed on to continue 
funding a research program that is uncovering the secret 
life of Bunbury’s dolphins. 

Over three years, we will provide Murdoch University with 
$27,000 to study the impacts of human activity on the 
bottlenose dolphin population as part of the South West 
Marine Research Program. 

The research will assist with planning activities in the 
marine environment so the impacts on the dolphins are 
minimised. 

This is important in ensuring the long-term viability of the 
local mammals as the number of people calling the region 
home increases and likely places more pressure on local 
waterways. 

The continued investigations into dolphin abundance, 
births, deaths, social structure and habitat use form 
the third stage of an eight-year study which we have 
supported since day one. 

What researchers have learnt about Bunbury’s dolphins – 
at a glance:

•	 Completed more than 580 boat-based photo 
identification surveys, resulting in 1600 dolphin group 

sightings with 463 individuals identified between 
Binningup and Peppermint Beach. 

•	 Obtained detailed information on abundance, 
individual habitat use, ranging patterns, reproductive 
success, genetic connectivity and relatedness, and 
demographics.

•	 Found that dolphin abundances are seasonally 
dependent with consistently lower numbers obtained 
during winter and higher during summer and autumn. 
Abundance estimates vary from about 65 dolphins in 
winter to around 140 in summer/autumn.

•	 Discovered that adult female dolphins aggregate in 
the inner waters during the warmer months, forming 

HOW WE INVESTED 
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strong seasonal bonds with adult females. This social 
time coincides with a peak in calving. 

•	 The north side of The Cut is an important resting area 
for dolphins.

Administered grants

In addition to allocating grants, we were also responsible 
for administering Royalties for Region funds. These were:

•	  $1m to the City of Bunbury for the Bunbury Marine 
Facilities Project. 

•	  $1.7m to the Shire of Donnybrook-Balingup for the 
Ferguson Valley Tourism Route project.

Research on Bunbury’s dolphins is continuing to benefit from 
SWDC funding.

Regional Development Minister Terry Redman and Bunbury 
MLA John Castrilli go over plans for transforming Bunbury’s 
waterfront.
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Recipient Project Grant (GST exc.)

Margaret River Community Resource Centre Launching Little People $14,827
Harvey Senior Citizen's Centre Centre upgrade $9,897.72
Shire of Collie Collie Cemetery Ngalang Boodja garden upgrade $5,090
Jobs South West Learn South West $14,500
Northcliffe Pioneer Museum Northcliffe Jubilee Park weed control $1,485
The Bunbury Musical Comedy Group Repairs and upgrades to the New Lyric Theatre $7,225
Nannup Music Club Nannup Music Club capabilities improvement $2,500
Quinninup Community Association Promoting Quinninup $3,654
City of Busselton Leisure centre expansion research $4,740
Collie Early Years Network Collie Early Years marquees $2,895
Busselton Hockey Stadium Club Kitchen renovation $3,225
Busselton Child Care Centre Flooring replacement $20,000
Shire of Nannup Nannup community bus $20,000
Bunbury Community Radio Bunbury Community Radio Station $20,000
Woolkabunning Kiaka Renewable energy strategy $20,000
Manjimup Warren Masonic Lodge Disabled access $9,000
Rotary Sail Into Life Rotary Sail Into Life $17,000
Enable Southwest Jumpstart $19,500
Tonebridge Country Club Outdoor fitness equipment $18,010
Pathways Southwest Art therapy capacity building $20,000
Koombana Bay Sailing Club Koombana Bay marina business plan $15,000
Cape to Cape Catchments Group Margaret River Bioblitz 2015 $20,000
Manjimup Men's Shed Manjimup Men's Shed $15,000
Ficifolia Community Garden Water bore installation $7,128.91
Dunsborough Men's Shed Dunsborough Men's Shed $15,000
Shire of Donnybrook – Balingup Blackwood River Recreational Precinct $15,000
Leschenault Catchment Council Purchase of trailer, tent and video equipment $2,000
Dunsborough Community Garden Establish water supply and fencing security $8,352
Intown Centre Solar panel installation $16,000
Dardanup Aeromodelling Society Provision of shade sail covers $4,820
Busselton RSL Sub Branch Memorial wall extension and landscaping $7,966
Harvey Brunswick Leschenault Football Club Coolroom compressor and evaporator units 

replacement
$10,184

COMMUNITY CHEST FUND

Busselton Hockey Stadium manager Alice Hansen in the 
kitchen which was upgraded with Royalties for Regions – 
Community Chest Fund money.
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Recipient Project Grant (GST exc.)

Dolphin Discovery Centre Dolphin Discovery Centre redevelopment $28,900
Bunbury Meals on Wheels and Senior 

Citizens Association

Kitchen refurbishment $31,571

Bunbury Sea Rescue Koombana Bay community recreational fishing 

and crabbing platform

$49,000

City of Bunbury Bunbury Airport upgrade project $90,000
Foodbank of WA - Bunbury Plant and equipment $28,907
Margaret River Chamber of Commerce & 

Industry

Free public wifi online shopping platform $23,779

Margaret River Community Resource Centre The Launch Pad - expansion of childcare service 

capacity

$90,000

Motoring South West Collie Motorplex infrastructure upgrade $36,149
Murdoch University South West Creative Arts Film Education project $85,000
Shire of Nannup Nannup recreation precinct upgrade $144,294

St John Ambulance Boyanup sub-centre development $147,000
Walpole Country Club Waterwise Greens project $83,332
Manjimup Speedway Club Manjimup Speedway infrastructure $40,000
Shire of Donnybrook-Balingup Donnybrook amphitheatre upgrade $110,000

REGIONAL GRANTS SCHEME

A fishing and crabbing platform will soon be built for the 
community at Bunbury’s Koombana Bay with aid from 
Royalties for Regions – Regional Grants Scheme funding.

An artist’s impression of what the Dolphin Discovery Centre could look like once redeveloped.
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Recipient Project Grant (GST exc.)

Country Music Club of Boyup Brook Boyup Brook Country Music Festival 4,000
Blackwood River Valley Marketing Association Rally in the Valley 1,000
Manjimup Lions Club Jazz in the Jarrah 1,000
Quinninup Community Association Quinninup Annual Market Day and Wine 

Tasting
1,000

Blackwood River Chamber Festival Blackwood River Chamber Festival 1,000
Friends to the Darradup Community Music in the Vineyard 1,000
Blackwood Country Gardens Festival of Country Gardens 3,000
Ficifolia Community Garden Live Life with Relish Festival 2,000
Nannup Garden Village Nannup Flower and Garden Festival 4,500
Balingup and Districts Tourism Association Telling Tales in Balingup 1,000
Bridgetown-Greenbushes Business and Tourism Bridgetown in the Winter: Wonderful Winter 

Wonderland Opening Night
3,000

Greenbushes Ratepayers and Residents 
Association

Greenbushes Fun Run and Festival 1,250

Manjimup Speedway Club USA Late Model Invasion Tour 2,000
Blackwood Valley Wine Industry Association Taste of the Blackwood 2,500
Good Times Arts Camp Doogs 2,000
Golden Valley Tree Park Golden Valley Tree Park Spring Picnic 1,500
Pemberton Visitor Centre Subaru Australian Mountain Bike Series 

Pemberton
2,000

Flower Designers Club of Bunbury Blooming Art Exhibition 1,500
Val Lishman Health Research Foundation Qube Truck Pull and Festival 2,000
WA Performing Arts Eisteddfod The City of Bunbury Eisteddfod 2,500
Bunbury Agricultural Society Bunbury Show – Horse and Country Music 

Event
2,500

Dardanup Bull and Barrel Festival Dardanup Bull and Barrel Festival 2,500
Rotary Club of Collie Collie Tourist Mine Refurbishment – Grand 

Opening
1,000

Harvey Mainstreet Harvey Harvest Festival 2,500
Stirling Street Arts Centre Bunbury Summer School 1,000
Bunbury Geographe Marketing Alliance Geographe Crush Food and Wine Festival 2,000
Bunbury and Districts Power Boat Club Millard Classic Fishing Competition 1,500
Bunbury Respect Rally 4 Respect 1,000
Bunbury Regional Entertainment Centre Out of the Box + Into the Cube Art Party 1,000

COMMUNITY EVENTS PROGRAM

The Greenbushes Fun Run and Festival. 

The City of Bunbury Eisteddfod.
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Recipient Project Grant (GST exc.)

Bunbury Regional Entertainment Centre Shorelines Writing for Performance Festival 2,000
Bunbury Regional Art Galleries Noongar Country Exhibition Opening and 

Family Day Event
1,500

Boyanup Foundation Traditional Trades at the South West Rail and 
Heritage Centre

1,500

Collie Early Years Network Harmony Day Festival 1,000
Collie Cycle Club 2015 Collie Community Bank Collie to 

Donnybrook and Return Cycling Classic
2,000

Koombana Bay Sailing Club 2014 Australian Hobie Cat Nationals 2,500
City of Bunbury Surf Life Saving Club Classic Down Wind Paddle and Classic Swim 1,500
Collie Gallery Group Arthur Boyd: An Active Witness 2,000
Collie Chamber of Commerce and Industry Collie Pedal Prix 3,000
South West Women's Health and Information 
Centre

Women's Fun Run and Walk 1,000

Six Two Three Zero Re.Discover 2,500
Collie Early Years Network Family Day 1,000
Busselton Runners Club Busselton Runners Club Half Marathon and 

Fun Run
1,500

The Busselton Art Society 55th Annual Art in the Park 1,000
Busselton Community Garden Busselton Community Garden Open Day 2,000
Triathlon Western Australia SunSmart Busselton Festival of Triathlon 3,500
Woolkabunning Kiaka Kambarang – South West Aboriginal Gourmet 

Experience
2,500

Dunsborough and Districts Progress Association Dunsborough Arts Festival 1,500
Busselton Wildflower Exhibition Busselton Wildflower Exhibition 1,500
Port Geographe Aquatic Sports Geographe Bay Raceweek 3,500
Arts Margaret River Margaret River Readers and Writers Festival 3,500
Augusta River Festival Augusta River Festival 3,000
Dunsborough and Districts Progress Association Bendigo Bank Dunsborough Bay Fun Run 1,500
Margaret River Regional Open Studios Margaret River Regional Open Studios 3,500
Tasar Association of WA Geographe Bay Tasar World Championship 3,500
Country Women's Association of Western 
Australia

CWA of WA 91st State Conference 1,500

Margaret River Concert Band Margaret River Concert Band 
Intergenerational Concert

1,000

Andrew Frazer from Bunbury street art festival Re.Discover 
with SWDC chief executive officer Don Punch.

An artwork that was completed during Re.Discover.
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Recipient Project Grant (GST exc.)

Goomburrup Aboriginal Corporation Friends of Des Ugle Christmas Function 2014 $2,500.00
Investing In Our Youth Mums and Kids Walking Group Withers $1,500.00
Leschenault Community Nursery Community Capacity Building Workshops $1,500.00
Milligan Community Learning and Resource 
Centre

Withers Homework Club $1,500.00

SWAMS Aboriginal Corporation Indigenous Hip Hop Project (IHHP) – Withers $5,000.00
Bunbury Police & Community Youth Centre Withers School Holiday Activities for High 

School Students – Term 3
$1,500.00

Arts Margaret River Margaret River Community Cinema $5,000.00
Creative Corner Film Friendly Website $7,100.00
Creative Corner Emergence Creative Festival 2015 $15,000.00
Milligan Community Learning and Resource 
Centre

Withers School Holiday Activities for Primary 
School Students – Term 3 2014

$1,500.00

Woolkabunning Kiaka Association South West Aboriginal Gourmet Culinary 
Experience

$10,000.00

Bunbury Dolphin Discovery Dolphin Centre Ap for Smartphone $5,000.00
Geographe Bay Tourism Association Busselton Cruise Ship $2,500.00
Nannup Garden Village Nannup Garden Festival $1,500.00
South West Chambers of Commerce and Industry South West Focus Conference 2015 $30,000.00
Murdoch University South West Marine Research Program 

(Dolphin Research – stage 3)
$27,000.00

Milligan Community Learning and Resource 
Centre

Withers School Holiday Activities for Primary 
School Students – Summer 2014/15

$2,500.00

Federation of WA Police & Community Centres Withers School Holiday Activities for High 
School Students – Summer 2014/15

$2,500.00

Milligan Community Learning and Resource 
Centre

Withers Homework Club $3,000.00

Milligan Community Learning and Resource 
Centre

Withers Picnic in the Park series $6,600.00

City of Bunbury Love Where You Live $1,500.00
South West Business Association South West Young Achievers Awards 2015 $15,000.00
Bunbury Multicultural Group Multicultural Night Under the Stars $2,000.00
Investing In Our Youth Withers Family Workshops $2,500.00
Investing In Our Youth Let's Get Moving Parents/Carers/

Grandparents Walking Group Withers
$3,000.00

Investing In Our Youth Withers Bubs and Grubs Gardening Group $5,000.00

OTHER GRANTS

Jackson Hill, Terrilee Collard, Mark Olive and Marian Davis at 
Roelands Village practicing for the Kambarang lunch event 
that was held as part of the Margaret River Gourmet Escape.

The South West Development Commission’s Alan Cross 
with 2015 South West Young Achievers Program participant 
Matthew Fenwick and past participant Tom Scott.
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Recipient Project Grant (GST exc.)

Investing In Our Youth Withers PlayCafe $3,800.00
Investing In Our Youth Bridges out of Poverty Training – South West $2,500.00
Walpole Country Club Sulphate Soil Tests $4,000.00
City of Bunbury Local Area Plan for Withers $81,000.00
Milligan Community Learning and Resource 
Centre

Withers School Holiday Activities for High 
School Students – Term 1, Term 2, Term 3 
and Term 4 (Summer Holidays) 2015

$7,000.00

Goomburrup Aboriginal Corporation Hudson Road Youth Group $1,000.00
Milligan Community Learning and Resource 
Centre

Withers School Holiday Activities for Primary 
School Students, Term 1, Term 2, Term 3, 
Term4 (summer holidays) 2015

$7,000.00

Milligan Community Learning and Resource 
Centre

Withers Picnics In the Park – Autumn and 
Spring

$15,200.00

NEEDAC Aboriginal Home Ownership Forum $2,000.00
City of Bunbury Withers Community Art Project $10,000.00
Milligan Community Learning and Resource 
Centre

Withers Community Capacity Building 
Workshops

$6,000.00

Walpole Nornalup Visitor Centre Walpole/Nornalup Tourism Recovery $20,000.00
Northcliffe Visitor Centre Northcliffe Tourism Recovery $40,000.00
Woolkabunning Kiaka Association South West Community Landcare Work Team 

Woolkabunning Kiaka
$5,000.00

Headspace TEDxYouth@Bunbury event $1,000.00
City of Bunbury Community Capacity Building Waterwise 

Kitchen Garden Stage 2
$20,000.00

City of Bunbury Greater Bunbury Age Friendly Community 
Plan

$30,000.00

City of Bunbury Withers Urban Renewal Strategy – Des Ugle 
Park - Reticulation

$75,480.00

City of Bunbury Withers Urban Renewal Strategy – Moriarty 
Park - Native Planting

$132,558.00

Bunbury Dolphin Discovery Dolphin Discovery – Operational Grant $10,000.00
Shire of Collie Collie Youth Careers Expo $2,500.00
Screen West Jasper Jones – Film $200,000.00
Creative Corner Activating the SW Creative Corner $20,000.00
Bunbury Dolphin Discovery Dolphin Discovery Centre – AV Upgrade $29,000.00

The Bubs and Grubs playgroup, which has a focus on 
gardening and healthy living, was held at the new Withers 
Waterwise Kitchen Garden with support from SWDC.
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Financial statements
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Certification of Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

The accompanying financial statements of South West Development Commission have been prepared 
in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and 
records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 and the 
financial position as at 30 June 2015.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Stuart Hicks
Chairman of the Board
11 August 2015

Don Punch
Member of the Board
11 August 2015

Susan Fitchat
Chief Finance Officer
11 August 2015

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES

CERTIFICATION
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Note 2015 $ 2014 $

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 6 2,660,733 2,751,352

Supplies and services 7 1,432,209 1,602,117

Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 186,155 163,005

Accommodation expenses 9 266,982 279,071

Grants and subsidies 10 4,027,996 3,583,822

Loss on disposal of non current assets 11 3,364

Other expenses 12 247,644 260,255

Total cost of services 8,821,719 8,642,986

Income 
Revenue

Commonwealth grants and contributions 13 46,750 111,500

Other revenue 14 67,658 105,273

Total revenue 114,408 216,773

Total income other than income from State Government 114,408 216,773

NET COST OF SERVICES 8,707,311 8,426,213

Income from State Government 15

Service appropriation                    215,000 449,000

Grants and contributions from government agencies 299,681

Resources received free of charge 25,718 40,569

Royalties for Regions funds 8,335,917 4,618,196

Total income from State Government 8,576,635 5,407,446

DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD (130,676) (3,018,767)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Changes in asset revaluation surplus                 102,988 (1,633,496)

Total other comprehensive income 102,988 (1,633,496)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (27,688) (4,652,263)

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2015

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES

FINANCIAL REPORTS
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Statement of financial position for the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 2015 $ 2014 $

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 27 703,856 703,856

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16, 27 6,043,591 5,712,429

Receivables 17 60,842 292,378

Amounts receivable for services 19 62,000 62,000

Other assets 18 2,537 39,566

Total current assets 6,872,826 6,810,229

Non-current assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16, 27 - 67,531

Amounts receivable for services 19 1,191,000 1,191,000

Property, plant and equipment 20 9,639,132 9,626,442

Infrastructure 21 808,767 919,359

Intangible assets 22 69,658 15,055

Total non-current assets 11,708,557 11,819,387

TOTAL ASSETS 18,581,383 18,629,616

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 24 209,210 296,809

Provisions 25 538,986 514,290

Total current liabilities 748,196 811,099

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 25 151,367 109,009

Total non-current liabilities 151,367 109,009

TOTAL LIABILITIES 899,563 920,108

NET ASSETS 17,681,820 17,709,508

EQUITY 26

Contributed equity 11,389,177 11,389,177

Reserves 11,239,953 11,136,965

Accumulated deficit (4,947,310) (4,816,634)

TOTAL EQUITY 17,681,820 17,709,508

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES
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Note
Contributed 

equity $ Reserves $
Accumulated 

deficit $
Total  

equity $

Balance at 1 July 2013 26 11,389,177 12,770,461 (1,797,867) 22,361,771

Deficit                  -                  - (3,018,767) (3,018,767)

Other comprehensive income                  - (1,633,496)                  - (1,633,496)

Total comprehensive income for the period - (1,633,496) (3,018,767) (4,652,263)

Balance at 30 June 2014 11,389,177 11,136,965 (4,816,634) 17,709,508

Balance at 1 July 2014 26 11,389,177 11,136,965 (4,816,634) 17,709,508

Deficit                  -                  - (130,676) (130,676)

Other comprehensive income                                                                   - 102,988                  - 102,988

Total comprehensive income for the period                  - 102,988 (130,676) (27,688)

Balance at 30 June 2015 11,389,177 11,239,953 (4,947,310) 17,681,820

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2015

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 2015 $ 2014 $

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation 215,000 449,000

Grants and contributions from government agencies - 299,681

Holding account drawdowns - 30,000

Royalties for Regions fund 8,335,917 4,618,196

Net cash provided by State Government  8,550,917 5,396,877

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits  (2,556,656) (2,915,670)

Supplies and services  (1,499,670) (1,449,212)

Accommodation (263,818) (274,956)

Grants and subsidies (3,998,690) (4,071,322)

GST payments on purchases (577,262) (485,729)

Other payments  (175,445) (228,666)

Receipts

Commonwealth grants and contributions 46,750 118,300

GST receipts on sales 15,541 32,338

GST receipts from taxation authority 760,862 181,416

Other receipts 67,658 108,952

Net cash used in operating activities 27 (8,180,730) (8,984,549)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of non-current physical assets  (106,556) (53,588)

Net cash used in investing activities  (106,556) (53,588)

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents held 263,631 (3,641,260)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  6,483,816 10,125,076

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 27 6,747,447 6,483,816

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES
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1. Australian equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards 
General

The Commission’s financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2015 have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards.  The term 
‘Australian Accounting Standards’ refers to Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standard Board (AASB).

The Commission has adopted any applicable, new and 
revised Australian Accounting Standards from their 
operative dates. 

Early adoption of standards

The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian 
Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 
1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards 
and Other Pronouncements’. Partial exemption permitting 
early adoption of AASB 2015-7 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures 
of Not-for Profit Public Sector Entities has been granted.  
Aside from AASB 2015-7, there has been no early 
adoption of any other Australian Accounting Standards 
that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by 
the Commission for the annual reporting period ended 30 
June 2015.

2. Summary of significant accounting 
policies

(a) General statement

The Commission is a not-for-profit entity that prepares 
general purpose financial statements in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 

Statements of Accounting Concepts and other 

authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board as applied by the 

Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by 

the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, 

format and wording. 

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 

Instructions are legislative provisions that govern the 

preparation of financial statements and take precedence 

over Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements 

of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 

pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 

Board.

Where modification is required and has a material or 

significant financial effect upon the reported results, 

details of that modification and the resulting financial 

effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial 

statements.

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the 

accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost 

convention, except for land, buildings, infrastructure and 

works of art which have been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of 

the financial statements have been consistently applied 

throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian 

dollars.

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying 

accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have 

been made in the process of applying the Commission’s 

accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect 

on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses 
key assumptions made concerning the future, and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial.

(c) Reporting entity

The reporting entity is the South West Development 
Commission.

(d) Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners 
Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires 
transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other 
than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the 
owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior 
to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as 
equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been 
designated as contributions by owners by Treasurer’s 
Instruction (TI) 955 ‘Contributions by Owners made to 
Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’ and have been 
credited directly to Contributed Equity.

Transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other 
than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners 
where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-
reciprocal.

(e) Income

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable. The following specific recognition 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
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criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised for 

the major business activities as follows:

Service appropriations

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at 

fair value in the period in which the Commission gains 

control of the appropriated funds. The Commission gains 

control of appropriated funds at the time those funds 

are deposited to the bank account or credited to the 

‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held 

at Treasury.

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and 

disposal of other assets when the significant risks and 

rewards of ownership control transfer to the purchaser 

and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services

Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the 

client or by reference to the stage of completion of the 

transaction.

Interest

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal 

contributions

Revenue is recognised at the fair value when the 

Commission obtains control over the assets comprising 

the contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not 

contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. 

Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair 

value can be reliably determined and the services would 

be purchased if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at 
fair value in the period in which the Commission obtains 
control over the funds.  The Commission obtains control 
of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the 
Commission’s bank account.

Gains

Realised or unrealised gains are usually recognised on a 
net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of 
non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current 
assets. 

(f) Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 
costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and 
the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) 
over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and 
equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 
are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part 
of a group of similar items which are significant in total).  

Initial recognition and measurement

All items of property, plant and equipment and 
infrastructure are initially recognised at cost.

For items of property, plant, equipment, works of art and 
infrastructure acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the 
cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the 
revaluation model is used for the measurement of land, 
buildings, Infrastructure, works of art, and historical 
cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land, 
buildings and infrastructure are carried at fair value less 

accumulated depreciation (buildings and infrastructure 

only) and accumulated impairment losses. All other items 

of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical 

cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value 

of land and buildings is determined on the basis of 

current market buying values determined by reference 

to recent market transactions. When buildings are re-

valued by reference to recent market transactions, the 

accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross 

carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated 

to the re-valued amount.

In the absence of market-based evidence, the fair value 

of land and buildings is determined on the basis of 

existing use. This normally applies where buildings are 

specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value 

for existing use assets is determined by reference to the 

cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits 

embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement 

cost. Where the fair value of buildings is dependent 

on using the depreciated replacement cost, the gross 

carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are 

restated proportionately. Fair value for restricted use land 

is determined by comparison with market evidence for 

land with similar approximate utility (high restricted use 

land) or market value of comparable unrestricted land 

(low restricted use land).

Land and buildings are independently valued annually 

by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 

(Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure 

that the carrying amount does not differ materially from 

the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period.
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Fair value of infrastructure has been determined by 
reference to the depreciated replacement cost (existing 
use basis) as the assets are specialised and no market-
based evidence of value is available. 

When infrastructure is re-valued, the accumulated 
depreciation is restated proportionately with the change 
in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the 
carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its 
re-valued amount.

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value 
are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use 
basis to assets and in determining estimated useful life. 
Professional judgement by the valuer is required where 
evidence does not provide a clear distinction between 
market type assets and existing use assets.

Derecognition

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, 
plant and equipment and infrastructure, any revaluation 
surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset 
revaluation surplus. 

Asset Revaluation Reserve

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record 
increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-
current assets as described in note 19 ‘Property, plant 
and equipment’.

Depreciation 

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are 
systematically depreciated over their estimated useful 
lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their 
future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line methods, 

using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful 
lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Buildings 20 years – 40 years

Office equipment 3 years – 10 years

Infrastructure 20 years – 29 years

Works of art controlled by the Commission are classified 
as property, plant and equipment, which are anticipated 
to have very long and indefinite useful lives. Their service 
potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed 
during the reporting period and so no depreciation has 
been recognised.

Land is not depreciated.

(g) Intangible assets

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more 
and internally generated intangible assets costing over 
$50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising 
the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. 
Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately 
expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 

All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are 
initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost 
or for nominal consideration, the cost is their fair value at 
the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement 
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives 
is calculated for the period of the expected benefit 

(estimated useful life) on the straight line basis using 

rates which are reviewed annually. All intangible assets 

controlled by the Commission have a finite useful life and 

zero residual value. 

The expected useful lives of this class of intangible asset 

are:

Software 3 years

Website costs 3 years

Computer software

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is 

treated as property, plant and equipment. Software that is 

not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as 

an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is 

expensed in the year of acquisition.

Website costs

Website costs are charged as expenses when they 

are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or 

development of an asset when they may be capitalised 

and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility 

studies during the planning of a website, and ongoing 

costs of maintenance during the operating phase are 

expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a 

website, to the extent that they represent probable future 

economic benefits that can be reliably measured, are 

capitalised.

(h) Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and 

intangible assets are tested for any indication of 

impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where 

there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable 

amount is estimated.  Where the recoverable amount is 
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less than the carrying amount, the asset is written down 
to the recoverable amount and impairment is recognised. 
As the Commission is a not-for-profit entity, unless 
an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to 
circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially 
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or 
where there is significant change in useful life. Each 
relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that 
the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the 
level of consumption or expiration of an asset’s future 
economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk 
from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and 
intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 
for impairment at the end of each reporting period 
irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus 
assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
the present value of future cash flows expected to be 
derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair 
value have no risk of material impairment where fair value 
is determined by reference to market-based evidence.  

Where fair value is determined by reference to 
depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk 
of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. 
Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairments at the end of each reporting period.

(i) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as 
held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale 
are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell and are presented separately 
from other assets in the Statement of Financial Position. 
Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or 
amortised.

(j) Leases

The Commission holds operating leases for head office 
and a number of branch office buildings.

Operating lease payments are expensed on a straight line 
basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of 
benefits derived from the leased properties.

(k) Financial instruments

In addition to cash, the Commission has two categories 
of financial instrument:

•	  Receivables; and

•	  Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the 
following classes:

Financial assets

•	  Cash and cash equivalents

•	  Restricted cash and cash equivalents

•	  Receivables

•	  Amounts receivable for services

Financial liabilities

•	  Payables

Initial recognition and measurement of financial 
instruments is at fair value which normally equates to 
the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent 

measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is 

the transaction cost or the face value because there is no 

interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is 

not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash 

and cash equivalents (and restricted cash and cash 

equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand which are 

subject to insignificant risk of change in value.

(m) Accrued salaries 

The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 16 

‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of 

amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a 

period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional 

cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pays occur in 

that year instead of the normal 26. No interest is received 

on this account.

Accrued salaries (see note 24 ‘Payables’) represent the 

amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial 

year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of 

the financial year end. The Commission considers the 

carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its 

fair value.

(n) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)

The Commission receives income from the State 

Government partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding 

account receivable). The accrued amount is accessible 

on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to 

cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.
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(o) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less 
an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (impairment). 
The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are 
written off against the allowance account. The allowance 
for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when 
there is objective evidence that the Commission will 
not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is 
equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 
days.  

(p) Payables

Payables are recognised when the Commission becomes 
obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase 
of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to 
the fair value as settlement is generally within 30 days.

(q) Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount 
and are recognised where there is a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and 
when the outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at 
the end of each reporting period. 

Provisions – employee benefits

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are 
in respect of employee’s services up to the end of the 
reporting period.

Annual leave  

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 
12 months after the end of the reporting period and is 

therefore considered to be 'other long term employee 
benefits'. The annual leave liability is recognised and 
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration 
rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels 
including non-salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience 
of employee departures and periods of service. The 
expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as 
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as current 
liability as the Commission does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting period.

Long service leave

Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and 
is therefore recognised and measured at the present value 
of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at 
the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels 
including non-salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience 
of employee departures and periods of service. The 
expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields as the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as 

closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified 
as current liabilities as the Commission does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period.  Pre-conditional and conditional long service 
leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities 
because the Commission has an unconditional right to 
defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has 
completed the required years of service.

Purchased leave 

The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service 
employees who have entered into an agreement to self-
fund up to an additional ten weeks leave per calendar 
year.  The provision recognises the value of salary set 
aside for employees and is measured at the nominal 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled. 

Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation Board 
(GESB) and other fund providers, administers public 
sector superannuation agreements in Western Australia in 
accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria 
for membership in a particular scheme for public sector 
employees varies according to commencement and 
implementation date.

Eligible employees may contribute to the Pension 
Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now 
closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State 
Superannuation Scheme (GSS) a defined benefit lump 
sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes 
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of employees and whole-of-government reporting.  
However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency 
purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined 
contributions) made by the Commission to GESB 
extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related 
superannuation liability.

The Commission has no liabilities under the Pension or 
the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme 
and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to 
members, who transferred from the Pension Scheme, 
are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations 
are funded by concurrent contributions made by the 
Commission to GESB. The concurrently funded part 
of the GSS is a defined contribution scheme as these 
contributions extinguish all liabilities in respect of the 
concurrently funded GSS obligations.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 
2007 who are not members of either the Pension or 
the GSS became non-contributory members of the 
West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees 
commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 
became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). 
From 30 March 2012, existing members of WSS and 
GESB and new employees became able to choose their 
preferred superannuation fund. The Commission makes 
concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees 
in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s 
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. 
Contributions to this accumulated scheme extinguish 
the commission’s liability for superannuation charges 
in respect of employees who are not members of the 
pension scheme or GSS.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the 
Pension and GSS schemes, and is recouped by the 

Treasurer for the employer’s share.

Provisions – other

Employment on-costs

Employment on-costs, including worker’s compensation 
insurance, are not employee benefits and are 
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses 
when the employment to which they relate has 
occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part 
of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the 
Commission’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related 
liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.  

(r) Superannuation expense 

The superannuation expense in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions 
paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS), and the GESB Super 
Scheme (GESBS), and other superannuation funds.

(s) Assets and services received free of charge or for 

nominal cost

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal 
cost that the agency would otherwise purchase if not 
donated, are recognised as income at the fair value 
of the assets or services where they can be reliably 
measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for 
services received. Receipts of assets are recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Position. Assets or services 
received from other State Government agencies 
are separately disclosed under Income from State 
Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(t) Comparative figures

Comparative figures are, when appropriate, reclassified 

to be comparable with figures presented in the current 
financial year.

3. Judgements made by management in 
applying accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements about the application 
of accounting policies that have a significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The 
Commission evaluates these judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitment

The Commission has entered into a number of leases 
for buildings for branch office accommodation.  Some 
of these leases relate to buildings of a temporary 
nature and it has been determined that the lessor 
retains subsequently all risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. Accordingly, the lease has been classified as 
operating leases.

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are 
based on historical experience and various other factors 
that have significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities with the 
next financial year.

Long service leave

Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating 
the Commission’s long service leave provision include 
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee 
retention rates and expected future payments. Changes 
in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the 
carrying amount of the long service leave provision.
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Commission has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective, or 
adopted, for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014 that impacted on 
the Commission.

Int 21  Levies 

This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which a liability to pay a government 
levy imposed should be recognised. There is no financial impact for the Commission at 
reporting date.

AASB 10  Consolidated Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Commission as it does 
not impact accounting for related bodies and the Commission has no interests in other 
entities.

AASB 11  Joint Arrangements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, 
introduces new principles for determining the type of joint arrangement that exists, which 
are more aligned to the actual rights and obligations of the parties to the arrangement.

There is no financial impact for the Commission as the new standard continues to 
require the recognition of the Commission’s share of assets and share of liabilities for the 
unincorporated joint operation.

AASB 12  Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes disclosure requirements in AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, AASB 128 Investments in Associates 
and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures. There is no financial impact.

AASB 127  Separate Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 12 Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements removing the consolidation requirements of the earlier standard 

whilst retaining accounting and disclosure requirements for the preparation of separate 

financial statements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 128  Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing a number of 

clarifications for the accounting treatments of changed ownership interest. The adoption 

of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Commission as it does not hold 

investments in associates and joint ventures.

AASB 1031  Materiality

This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), removing Australian guidance on 

materiality not available in IFRSs and refers to guidance on materiality in other Australian 

pronouncements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 1055  Budgetary Reporting

This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures in the general purpose 

financial statements of not-for-profit entities within the General Government Sector. 

The Commission will be required to disclose additional budgetary information and 

explanations of major variances between actual and budgeted amounts, though there is 

no financial impact.

AASB 2011-7  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 

Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 107, 112, 

118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance of AASB 

10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in 

Associates and Joint Ventures. There is no financial impact for the Commission.

AASB 2012-3  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial 

Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132]

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies 

identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria, including clarifying the meaning 

of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement 

systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement. There is no financial impact.
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AASB 2013-3  Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for  Non-

Financial Assets

This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-4  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Novation of 

Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting [AASB 139] 

This Standard permits the continuation of hedge accounting in circumstances where 

a derivative, which has been designated as a hedging instrument, is novated from one 

counterparty to a central counterparty as a consequence of laws or regulations. The 

Commission does not routinely enter into derivatives or hedges, therefore there is no 

financial impact.

AASB 2013-8  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian 

Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities – Control and Structured Entities 

[AASB 10, 12 & 1049]

The amendments, issued in October 2013, provide significant guidance in determining 

whether a not-for-profit entity controls another entity when financial returns are not a key 

attribute of the investor’s relationship. The Standard has no financial impact in its own 

right, rather the impact results from the adoption of the amended.

AASB 2013-9  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual 

Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments

Part B of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the 

deletion of references to AASB 1031 in other Standards for periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2014. It has no financial impact.

AASB 2014 -1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part A of this Standard consists primarily of clarifications to Accounting Standards and 

has no financial impact for the Commission.

Part B of this Standard has no financial impact as the Commission contributes to 

schemes that are either defined contribution plans, or deemed to be defined contribution 

plans.

Part C of this Standard has no financial impact as it removes references to AASB 1031 

Materiality from a number of Accounting Standards.

AASB 2015-7  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures 
of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities

This Standard relieves not-for-profit public sector entities from the reporting burden 
associated with various disclosures required by AASB 13 for assets within the scope of 
AASB 116 that are held primarily for their current service potential rather than to generate 
future net cash inflows. It has no financial impact.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless 
specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards 
and Other Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101. By virtue of a limited 
exemption, the Commission has early adopted AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities. 
Where applicable, the Commission plans to apply the following Australian Accounting 
Standards from their application date.

Operative for reporting 
 period beginning on/after 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes 
to accounting treatments. The mandatory application date of this 
Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being amended by 
AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9, and AASB 2014-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
The Commission has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 15  Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This Standard establishes the principles that the Commission 
shall apply to report useful information to users of financial 
statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of 
revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. 
The Commission has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2017
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Operative for reporting 
 period beginning on/after 

AASB 2010-7  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  
arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 
102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 
139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result 
of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. The mandatory application 
date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6 and 
AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018. The Commission has not 
yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2013-9  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments

Part C of this omnibus Standard defers the application of AASB 
9 to 1 January 2017. The application date of AASB 9 was 
subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1. 
The Commission has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of AASB 9.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2014-1  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and 
consequential amendments to other Standards. It has not yet 
been assessed by the Commission to determine the application or 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-3  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations [AASB 
1 & 11]

The Commission establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of 
its objectives and does not routinely acquire interests in Joint 
Operations. Therefore, there is no financial impact on application 
of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

Operative for reporting 
 period beginning on/after 

AASB 2014-4  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]

The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the 
Commission as depreciation and amortisation is not determined 
by reference to revenue generation, but by reference to 
consumption of future economic benefits.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-5  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 15

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) 
arising from the issuance of AASB 15. The Commission has not 
yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2014-7  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising 
from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The Commission 
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-8  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) – Application of AASB 9 
(December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 
2010)]

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments (December 2009) and AASB 9 Financial Instruments 
(December 2010), arising from the issuance of AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments in December 2014. The Commission has not 
yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2015
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Operative for reporting 
 period beginning on/after 

AASB 2014-9  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements [AASB 1, 127 
& 128]

This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends 
AASB 1 and AASB 128, to allow entities to use the equity method 
of accounting for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates in their separate financial statements. The Commission 
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-10  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor  and its 
Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 10 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an 
inconsistency between the requirements in AASB 10 and those in 
AASB 128 (August 2011), in dealing with the sale or contribution 
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. 
The Commission has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-1  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 
2012–2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 
134, 137 & 140]

These amendments arise from the issuance of International 
Financial Reporting Standard Annual Improvements to IFRSs 
2012–2014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial corrections. 
The Commission has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

Operative for reporting 
 period beginning on/after 

AASB 2015-2  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 
134 & 1049]

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification 
regarding the disclosure requirements in AASB 101. Specifically, 
the Standard proposes narrow-focus amendments to address 
some of the concerns expressed about existing presentation 
and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to 
use judgement when applying a Standard in determining what 
information to disclose in their financial statements. There is no 
financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-3  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality

This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 
1031 in all Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, 
allowing that Standard to effectively be withdrawn. There is no 
financial impact.

1 Jul 2015

AASB 2015-6  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public 
Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include 
application by not-for-profit public sector entities. Implementation 
guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not-
for-profit public sector entities. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2015
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2015 $ 2014 $

6. Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (a) 2,414,489 2,514,933

Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 246,244 236,419

2,660,733 2,751,352

a. Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements including 
superannuation contribution component.

b. Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State and GESB Super Scheme (contributions paid), and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance are included at note 12 ‘Other expenses’.  The employment on-costs 
liability is included at note 25 ‘Provisions’.  

7. Supplies and services
Communication 54,730 59,831

Consultants and contractors 873,336 1,008,092

Consumables 96,162 113,092

Repairs and maintenance 10,467 15,153

Lease, rent and hire costs 156,082 163,274

Travel 63,720 57,875

Insurance 30,620 32,217

Rates and charges 25,418 31,636

Other 121,674 120,947

1,432,209 1,602,117

8. Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation

Office equipment 10,720 13,249

Buildings 92,888 88,405

Computer equipment 17,890 12,397

Infrastructure 46,393 46,160

Total depreciation 167,891 160,211

Amortisation

Intangible assets 18,264 2,795

Total amortisation 18,264 2,795

Total depreciation and amortisation 186,155 163,005
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2015 $ 2014 $

9. Accommodation expenses
Lease rentals 259,799 263,371

Cleaning 7,183 15,700

266,982 279,071

10. Grants and subsidies
Recurrent

Non public organisations (a) 975,213 385,188

Public sector organisations (a) 3,052,783 3,198,634

Royalties for Regions funds 4,027,996 3,583,822

a. Refer to Annual Report for detail of grant recipients.

11. Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Proceeds of disposal of non-current assets - -

Costs of disposal of non-current assets - 3,364

Loss on disposal of non-current assets - (3,364)

12. Other expenses
Employment on-costs (a) 17,371 7,447

Audit costs (b) 36,900 42,000

Internal audit costs 10,450 9,933

Contributions 22,150 21,727

Refunds of revenue from prior years 27,228 116,617

Learning and development 53,756 56,362

Revaluation decrement – Pemberton Hydro 72,199 -

Other expenses 7,590 6,169

247,644 260,255

a. Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of 
annual and long service leave liability is included at note 25 'Provisions'. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision 
for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

b.  Audit fees, see note 29 'Remuneration of auditor' 
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2015 $ 2014 $

13. Commonwealth grants and contributions
Australian Trade Commission 46,750 111,500

46,750 111,500

14. Other revenue
Sundry income - 48,563

Alcoa of Australia Ltd - 5,000

Shire of Boyup Brook - 15,000

Rental from property 19,368 28,036

Grants revenue returned from prior years 36,887 5,815

Other recoupments 11,403 8,675

67,658 105,273

15. Income from State Government
Appropriation received during the year

Service appropriation (a) 215,000 449,000

215,000 449,000

Grants and contributions from government agencies

Department of Transport - 78,000

Department of Water - 197,681

LandCorp - 20,000

Tourism WA - 4,000

- 299,681

Services received free of charge (b)

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:

Building Management and Works 25,522 23,262

State Solicitor 196 17,307

25,718 40,569
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2015 $ 2014 $

Royalties for Regions Fund

Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Fund (c) 2,769,635 -

Regional Community Services Fund (c)

Operational Fund 4,601,000 4,488,000

Community Chest Fund and Regional Grants Scheme 965,282 -     

Regional Local Government Fund (c) - 37,696

Regional capacity building – Blueprint (c) - 92,500

8,335,917 4,618,196

Total revenue from State Government 8,576,635 5,407,446

a. Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the net cost of services delivered. The appropriation revenue comprises a cash 
component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any agreed 
increase in leave liability during the year.

b. Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value of the asset and/or services 
that can reliably measured and which would have been purchased if not donated. Contributions or assets or services in the nature of 
contributions by owners are recognised direct to equity.

c. This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds include the service appropriation funds for 
operational expenses of the Commission and projects and programs in the WA regional areas.
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2015 $ 2014 $

16. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current

Restricted projects

Cash held to be used specifically for Board approved projects listed (a)

Agricultural transformation 6,000 6,000

Augusta lighthouse - 140,000

Margaret River broadband 25,000 25,000

Collie-Kemerton Integrated Water Management Strategy - 93,036

Cowaramup Resort 150,000 150,000

Jiaxing-Bunbury trade mission - 25,000

Lake Kepwari 2,666,349 2,666,349

Picton land development 554,000 554,000

Special Board projects 140,000 200,000

South West events 27,346 123,816

Withers urban renewal 882,433 1,151,233

Accrued salaries suspense account (b) 85,319 -

Total current restricted projects 4,536,447 5,134,434

Royalties for Regions projects restricted

Regional Community Services Fund 1,124,637 516,759

Regional Grant Scheme 329,529 - 

Regional Investment Blueprint 50,978 60,236

Total 1,505,144 576,995

Department of Treasury 2,000 1,000

Total 2,000 1,000

Total current restricted cash 6,043,591 5,712,429

Non-current

Accrued salaries suspense (b) - 67,531

Total non-current restricted cash - 67,531

Total restricted cash 6,043,591 5,779,960

a. Unspent funds are committed to projects in WA regional areas.
b. Amount held is only to be used for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.
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2015 $ 2014 $

17. Receivables
Current

Accrued revenue - 5,585

Receivables 5,579 -

GST receivable 55,263 286,793

60,842 292,378

The Commission does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.

18. Other assets
Current

Prepayments 2,537 39,566

2,537 39,566

The Commission does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.

19. Amounts receivable for services
Current 62,000 62,000

Non-current 1,191,000 1,191,000

1,253,000 1,253,000

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment 
of leave liability.

20. Property, plant and equipment
Office equipment

At cost 222,539 222,539

Accumulated depreciation (87,067) (158,457)

35,472 64,082

Buildings

At fair value (a) 1,777,500 1,736,200

Land

At fair value (a) 6,027,600 6,027,600
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2015 $ 2014 $

Works of art

Art at fair value 12,000 12,000

Artefacts at fair value (b) 1,786,560 1,786,560

1,798,560 1,798,560

Total property, plant and equipment 9,639,132 9,626,442

a. Freehold land and buildings were re-valued as at 1 July 2014 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). 
The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2015 and recognised at 30 June 2015.  In undertaking the revaluation 
fair value was determined by reference to market value for land. For the remaining balance, fair value of land and building was 
determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost.

b. The revaluation of Works of art was performed in accordance with an independent valuation by the Wayne Gardiner (Valuers and 
Auction Consultant). Fair value (replacement value) was determined by existing use. The effective date of the valuation is March 2010.  
The Commission will be undertaking a current valuation of the Works of Art before the end of the next financial.  The Works of art – 
World of Energy shall be transferred to the Shire of Manjimup.

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period 
are set out below.

2015 Land $ Buildings $
Office  

Equipment $
Works of 

 Art $ Total $

Carrying amount at start of period 6,027,600 1,736,200 64,082 1,798,560 9,626,442

Additions               - 31,200          -               - 31,200

Revaluations/Adjustments               - 102,988          -               - 102,988

Depreciation               - (92,888) (28,610)               - (121,498)

Disposals               -               -          -               -               -

Carrying amount at end of period 6,027,600 1,777,500 35,472 1,798,560 9,639,132

2014 Land $ Buildings $
Office  

Equipment $
Works of 

 Art $ Total $

Carrying amount at start of period 7,717,600 1,768,100 58,611 1,798,560 11,342,871

Additions                -                - 34,481               - 34,481

Revaluations/Adjustments (1,690,000) 56,504          -               - (1,633,496)

Depreciation                - (88,404) (15,802)               - (104,206)

Disposals                -                - (13,208)               - (13,208)

Carrying amount at end of period 6,027,600 1,736,200 64,082 1,798,560 9,626,442

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES



SWDC Annual Report 2015 77

2015 $ 2014 $

21. Infrastructure
At fair value 809,000 1,150,000

Accumulated depreciation (233) (230,641)

808,767 919,359

Reconciliation

Carrying amount at start of period 919,359 965,519

Addition 8,000 -

Devaluation – Pemberton Hydro (72,199) -

Depreciation (46,393) (46,160)

Carrying amount at end of period 808,767 919,359

22. Intangible assets
Computer software

At cost 108,473 35,606

Accumulated depreciation (38,815) (20,551)

Carrying amount at end of period 69,658 15,055

Reconciliation

Carrying amount at start of period 15,055 4,242

Additions 72,867 13,607

Depreciation (18,264) (2,794)

Carrying amount at end of period 69,658 15,055

23. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets at 30 June 
2015. 
The commission held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period and at 
reporting date there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.
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24. Payables
Current

Trade payables 9,356 64,047

Accrued expenses 124,774 168,987

Accrued salaries 75,080 63,775

209,210 296,809

25. Provisions
Current

Employee benefits provision

Purchased leave 3,127 150

Annual leave (a) 305,366 231,340

Long service leave (b) 223,993 276,300

532,486 507,790

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c) 6,500 6,500

6,500 6,500

Total current provisions 538,986 514,290

Non-current

Long service leave (b) 150,459 108,101

150,459 108,101

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c) 908 908

Total non-current provisions 151,367 109,009

Total provisions 690,353 623,299

a. Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as  there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after 
reporting date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 176,314 138,804

More than 12 months after reporting date 129,052 92,536

305,366 231,340
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b. Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 134,396 165,780

More than 12 months after reporting date 240,056 218,621

374,452 384,401

c. The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities give rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers 
compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense is included at note 
12 ‘Other expenses'.

Movements in other provisions

Movements in provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below.

Employment on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of year 7,408 7,408

Additional provisions recognised - -

Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits -

Carrying amount at end of year 7,408 7,408

26. Equity
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Commission. The Western Australian Government holds 
the equity interest in the Commission on behalf of the community. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of 
equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Contributed equity

Balance at start of period 11,389,177 11,389,177

Balance at end of period 11,389,177 11,389,177

Reserves

Asset revaluation surplus

Balance at start of period 11,136,965 12,770,461

Net revaluation increments/(decrements)

Land - (1,690,000)

Buildings 102,988 56,504

Balance at end of period 11,239,953 11,136,965
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Accumulated (deficit)

Balance at start of period (4,816,634) (1,797,867)

Result for the period (130,676) (3,018,767)

Balance at end of period (4,947,310) (4,816,634)

Total equity at end of period  17,681,820 17,709,508

27. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalent 703,856 703,856

Restricted cash and cash equivalent (refer to note 16) 6,043,591 5,779,960

6,747,447 6,483,816

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operating activities

Net cost of services (8,707,311) (8,426,213)

Non-cash items

Depreciation expense 186,155 163,005

Services received free of charge 25,718 40,569

Loss on disposal of property (land) - 3,364

Revaluation decrement 72,199 -

(Increase)/decrease in assets

Current receivables (a) 9 20,197

Other current assets 31,518 -

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities

Current accounts payable (a) (81,246) (435,086)

Current provisions 24,696 (142,176)

Other current liabilities

Non-current provisions 42,358 17,259

Net GST receipts/(payments) (b) 199,141 (271,975)

Change in GST receivables/payables(c) 26,033 46,507

Net cash used in operating activities                  (8,180,730)  (8,684,549)
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a. This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.
b. Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and   the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/

purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.
c. This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

28. Lease commitments
Non cancellable operating lease commitments.

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 259,133 250,458

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 795,963 794,379

Later than 5 years 328,981 414,117

1,384,077 1,458,954

The Commission has entered into a property lease which is a non-cancellable lease with a later than five year term, with 
rent payable monthly in advance.  Contingent rent provisions within the lease agreement require that the minimum lease 
payments shall be increased by the lower of CPI or 4% per annum. An option exists to renew the lease at the end of the 
term.

29. Events occurring after the end of the reporting 
period

There are no events occurring after the balance sheet date that the Commission is aware of as at the date of this report.

30. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
There are no contingent liabilities or assets that the Commission is aware of as at 30 June 2015.

Contaminated Sites

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Commission is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites 
to the Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC). In accordance with the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the 
basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified a contaminated – 
remediation required or possibly contaminated – investigation required, the Commission may have a liability in respect of 
investigation or remediation expenses. The Commission has no known or suspected contaminated sites.
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31. Fair value measurements
Assets measured at fair value $ $ $ $

2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Fair value at 
 end of year

Land           - 3,060,000 2,967,600 6,027,600

Buildings           - 1,777,500   1,777,500

Works of art           - 1,798,560 1,798,560

Infrastructure           -              808,767 808,767

          - 3,060,000 7,352,427 10,412,427

2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Fair value at 
 end of year

Land           - 3,060,000 2,967,600 6,027,600

Buildings  -  - 1,736,200 1,736,200

Works of art - - 1,798,560 1,798,560

Infrastructure - - 919,359 919,359

- 3,060,000 7,421,719 10,481,719

Reconciliations of opening and closing balances are provided in Note 20, 21.  
There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the current and previous periods.

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values

Level 2 fair values of land are derived using the market approach. Market evidence of sale prices of comparable land in 
close proximity is used to determine price per square metre.

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

$ $ $ $

2015 Land Buildings Works of art Infrastructure

Fair value at start of period 2,967,600   1,736,200      1,798,560           919,359

Additions - 31,200 -               8,000

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised: 

Profit or loss - - - (72,199)

Other

Comprehensive income - 102,988 - -
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Transfers (from/to Level 2)

Disposals

Depreciation expense    -      (92,888)          -           (46,393)

Fair value at end of period    2,967,600   1,777,500        1,798,560           808,767

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

$ $ $ $

2014 Land Buildings Works of art Infrastructure

Fair value at start of period 4,657,600  1,768,100      1,798,560        965,519

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised: 

Profit or loss - - - -

Other

Comprehensive income (1,690,000) 56,504 - -

Transfers (from/to Level 2)

Disposals

Depreciation expense - (88,404) - (46,160)

Fair value at end of period 2,967,600  1,736,200       1,789,560         919,359

Valuation processes

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused 
the transfer.  Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer's 
instructions require valuations of land, buildings and infrastructure to be categorised within Level 3 where the valuations 
will utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis.

Land (Level 3 fair values)

Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted 
use land).  The relevant comparators of land with low level utility is selected by the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Valuation Services ) and represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation methodology.  
The fair value measurement is sensitive to values of comparator land, with higher values of comparator land correlating 
with higher estimated fair values of land.

 

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES



84

Buildings and Infrastructure (Level 3 fair values)

Fair value for existing use specialised buildings and infrastructure assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing 
the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost.  Depreciated 
replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis 
of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired economic benefit, or obsolescence, and optimisation (where 
applicable) of the asset.  Current replacement cost is generally determined by reference to the market observable 
replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project size specifications.

Valuation using depreciation replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input, consumed economic benefit/
obsolescence of asset which is estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).  The 
fair value measurement is sensitive to the estimate of consumption/obsolescence, with higher values of the estimate 
correlating with the lower estimated fair values of buildings and infrastructure.

The fair value of infrastructure and works of art are extracted from financial records of the Commission.

Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements

Description
Fair Value  

2015
Fair Value 

2014
Valuation  
technique(s)

Unobservable  
inputs

Land 2,967,600 2,967,600 Market approach Selection of land with similar 
approximate utility

Buildings 1,777,500 1,736,200 Depreciated 
replacement cost

Consumed economic benefit/
obsolescence of asset

Works of art 1,798,560 1,798,560 Replacement value Historical cost per collections

Infrastructure 808,767 919,359 Depreciated 
replacement cost

Consumed economic benefit/
obsolescence of asset

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances are provided in Note 20, 21.

Basis of valuation

In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non financial assets, these assets are 
valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis.  The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or 
limitations have been placed on their use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements.  These 
restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific community service.
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32. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers
Remuneration of members of the accountable authority

The numbers of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary 
benefits, and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

2015 2014 2015 $ 2014 $

$0           -  $10,000 7 7

$10,001  -  $20,000 1 1

$50,000  -  $60,000 - 1

$70,000  -  $80,000 1 -

Base remuneration and superannuation 109,700 110,203

Annual leave and long service leave accruals - -

Other benefits 16,906 19,725

The total remuneration of the members of the accountable authority is: 126,606 129,928

The total remuneration includes superannuation expenses incurred by the Commission in respect of members of the 
accountable authority. No members of the accountable authority are members of the Pension Scheme.

Remuneration of senior officers

The number of senior officers, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation and other benefits for the financial year, fall 
within the following bands is:

2015 2014 2015 $ 2014 $

$60,000   -  $110,000 - 1

$110,001 -  $150,000 1 1

$150,001 -  $200,000 3 3

$200,001 -  $250,000 1 1

$250,001 -  $300,000 - 1

Base remuneration and superannuation 811,629 1,166,744

Annual leave and long service leave accruals 52,744 36,862

Other benefits 20,329 6,723

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 884,702 1,210,329

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of 
senior officers of the accountable authority. No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

Two senior officer’s termination costs are included in the total remuneration 2013-14.
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2015 $ 2014 $

33. Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators 35,500 33,000

34. Explanatory statement
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as presented in the financial 
statement titled “Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates” are shown below:  Major 
variances are considered to be those greater than 10% or  $10 million.

Variance 
 note

Original  
budget Actual Actual

Variance 
between 

extimated and 
actual results

Variance 
between actual 
results for 2014 

and 2015

Statement of Comprehensive Income 2015 $ 2015 $ 2014 $ $ $

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 2,951,000 2,660,733 2,751,352  (290,267)        (90,619)

Supplies and services 1.A 1,101,000 1,432,209 1,586,956    331,209       (154,747)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 2.B    132,000     186,155     163,005      54,155          23,150

Accommodation expenses 3.    304,000     266,982     279,071    (37,018)        (12,089)

Grants and subsidies 4.C    100,000  4,027,996  3,583,822 3,927,996         444,174

Loss on disposal of non current assets    D                -               -         3,364               -           (3,364)

Other expenses 5.E    288,000    247,644     275,416    (40,356)         (27,772)

Total cost of services 4,876,000 8,821,719 8,642,986 3,945,719         178,733

Income

Revenue

User charges and fees

Commonwealth grants and contributions  F 50,000    46,750 111,500 (3,250)  (64,750)

Other revenue 6.G   5,000    67,658 105,273 62,658  (37,615)

Total revenue 55,000 114,408 216,773 59,408 (102,365)

Total income other than income from State Government 55,000 114,408 216,773 59,408 (102,365)

NET COST OF SERVICES 4,821,000 8,707,311 8,426,213 3,886,311 281,098
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Variance 
 note

Original  
budget Actual Actual

Variance 
between 

extimated and 
actual results

Variance 
between actual 
results for 2014 

and 2015

2015 $ 2015 $ 2014 $ $ $

Income from State Government

Service appropriation H    215,000    215,000   449,000                - (234,000)

Services received free of charge 7.1                -     25,718     40,569      25,718   (14,851)

Royalties for Regions fund 8.1 4,601,000 8,335,917 4,618,196 3,734,917 3,717,721

Grants received from other State agencies K                -                -     299,681                 -  (299,681)

Total income from State Government 4,816,000  8,576,635 5,407,446 3,760,635 3,169,189

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD       (5,000)   (130,676) (3,018,767)     (53,477) 2,960,290

Statement  of Financial Position

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash assets  9     859,000    703,856    703,856    (155,144) -

Restricted cash and equivalents 10   9,382,000 6,043,591 5,712,429 (3,338,409)          331,162

Receivables 11.L       118,000      60,842     292,378      (57,158) (231,536)

Other assets 12.M           7,000         2,537       39,566        (4,463)   (37,029)

Amounts receivable for services 13                  -       62,000       62,000        62,000 -

Total current assets 10,366,000 6,872,826   6,810,229 3,493,174 62,597

Non current assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents AB - - 67,531 - (67,531)

Amounts receivable for services  1,253,000 1,191,000 1,191,000      (62,000)                    -

Property, plant and equipment 10,302,000 9,639,132 9,626,442 (662,868) 12,690

Infrastructure 14.N - 808,767 919,359 808,767 (110,592)

Intangible assets 15.O 4,000 69,658 15,055 65,658 54,603

Other assets 16 1,795,000 - - (1,795,000) -

Total Non-Current Assets 13,354,000 11,708,557 11,819,387 (1,645,443) (110,830)

TOTAL ASSETS 23,720,000 18,581,383 18,629,616
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Variance 
 note

Original  
budget Actual Actual

Variance 
between 

extimated and 
actual results

Variance 
between actual 
results for 2014 

and 2015

2015 $ 2015 $ 2014 $ $ $

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 17.P 91,000 209,210 296,809 118,210 (87,599)

Provisions  570,000 538,986 514,290 (31,014) 24,696

Other 18 651,000 - - (651,000) -

Total current liabilities 1,312,000 748,196 811,099 (563,804) (62,903)

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 19.Q 90,000 151,367 109,009 60,367 42,358

Other 20 1,000 - - (1,000) -

Total non-current liabilities 92,000 151,367 109,009 59,367 42,358

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,403,000 899,563 920,108

NET ASSETS 22,317,000 17,681,820 17,709,508

EQUITY

Contributed Equity  11,389,000 11,389,177 11,389,177 177 -

Reserves 21 12,921,000 11,239,953 11,136,965 (1,681,047) 102,988

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 22 (1,993,000) (4,947,310) (4,816,634) (2,954,310) (130,676)

TOTAL EQUITY  22,317,000 17,681,820 17,709,508 (4,635,180) (27,688)

Statement of Cash Flow

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation H 215,000 215,000 449,000 - (234,000)

Grants and contributions from government K - - 299,681 - (299,681)

Holding account drawdowns R - - 30,000 - (30,000)

Royalties for Regions fund 23.J 4,601,000 8,335,917 4,618,196 3,734,917 3,717,721

Net cash provided by State Government  4,816,000 8,550,917 5,396,877 3,734,917 3,154,040
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Variance 
 note

Original  
budget Actual Actual

Variance 
between 

extimated and 
actual results

Variance 
between actual 
results for 2014 

and 2015

2015 $ 2015 $ 2014 $ $ $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments       

Employee benefits 23.U (2,948,000) (2,556,656) (2,915,670) 391,344 359,014

Supplies and services  1 (991,000) (1,499,670) (1,449,212) (508,670) (50,458)

Accommodation  3 (304,000) (263,818) (274,956) 40,182 11,138

Grants and subsidies  4 (100,000) (3,998,690) (4,071,322) (3,898,690) 72,632

GST payments on purchases 24.W               - (577,262) (485,729) (577,262) (91,533)

Other payments 27.X (701,000) (175,445) (228,666) 525,555 53,221

Receipts       

Commonwealth grants and contributions   F 50,000 46,750 118,300 (3,250) (71,550)

GST receipts on sales  26.S - 15,541 32,338 15,541 (16,797)

GST receipts from taxation authority  28.Y 300,000 760,862 181,416 460,862 579,446

Other receipts  25.T 5,000 67,658 108,952 62,658 (41,294)

Net cash used in operating activities  (4,689,000) (8,180,730) (8,984,549) (3,491,730) 803,819

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Purchase of non-current physical assets 29.Z (30,000) (106,556) (53,588) (76,556) (52,968)

Receipts

Proceeds from  sale of non-current physical 
assets - - - - -

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing 
activities      R  (30,000)  (106,556) (53,558) - -

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 30.V 97,000 263,631 (3,641,260) 166,631 3,904,891

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 
of the period 31 AA 10,144,000 6,483,816 10,125,076 (3,660,184) (3,641,260)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF THE PERIOD 10,241,000 6,747,447 6,483,816 (3,493,553) 263,631
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Explanatory Statement

Major Variance Narratives (Controlled Operations)

Variance between budget and actual

1. Supplies and Services, expenditure in relation to the South West Royalties for Regions Southern Initiatives and 
Royalties for Regions grants administration.

2. Depreciation cost is non cash and mainly for buildings at $92K and Pemberton Hydro at $46K, the other expense is 
plant and equipment.  The budget will need adjustment to reflect increase in outyear projected depreciation expense.

3. Rental accommodation lease expenses has decreased for the Commission’s Bunbury office.

4. Grant expenditure is funded by Royalties for Regions (RfR) initiatives: Bunbury Marine Facilities, Ferguson Valley 
Tourism route, Regional Grant Scheme and Community Chest.  Prior restricted cash carry over funds has been 
expensed for Withers Urban Renewal Project.

5. Motor vehicle operating lease is budgeted for under Other Expenses but expended under Supplies and Service.

6. The Commission leased out surplus office space and also received a return of grant monies in relation to the Collie 
SuperTowns.

7. Services free of charge are non cash and not budgeted for.

8. New funding received for three new Royalties for Regions projects:  Regional Infrastructure and Headworks, Regional 
Grants Scheme and Community Chest.

9. Higher than budgeted for expenditure in prior year resulted in a lower unrestricted cash balance at year end June 
2014.

10. Variance has arisen as the budget Balance Sheet cash compared to actual has been drawn down.

11. Accounts receivable is lower than budgeted due to little outstanding GST receivable at year end.

12. Prepayments have decreased against the budget due to the timing of supplier invoice payments.  It was expected that 
a higher amount of invoices was due to be prepaid.

13. Amounts receivables for services, is current in actuals, but under non current in budget.

14. Infrastructure amount is reflected in the budget under “Other” instead of infrastructure

15. Intangibles increased by $65,658, due to grants online database upgrade and Microsoft Office server software.

16. Other assets in the budget are Infrastructure and Intangibles on the Balance Sheet

17. Actual payables is higher than budget due to the inclusion of accrued salaries and expenses.

18. Liability “Other” in budget is from prior years.
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19. Unbudgetted increase in non current long service leave, applicable to leave liability over 4 years old. Will need to do 
an adjustment during mid year review.

20. Liability “Other” in budget is from prior years and will need adjustment at mid year review.

21. Historic reserves in budget will need to decrease to match actual reserves.

22. Decrease in actual cash will adjust the actual surplus/deficit.

23. Employee benefits in the budget include leave liability and full FTE of 23. No significant leave payments have been 
paid.

24. GST payments is mapped under Other  Payments  in the  budget papers.

25. Actual receipts include commercial rental and other variable project activity recoupments.

26. Actual receipts on sales for GST increased as per Other revenue increased.

27. Other payments include GST above.

28. Gst receipts are variable and match a higher volume in grants payments.

29. Non current asset expenditure included capital expenditure on buildings, infrastructure and intangibles, to maintain 
assets useful life.  

30. Current cash balance includes cash carry over for the Regional Grants Scheme.

31. Historic cash at bank in the budget will need to be adjusted to actual cash balance.

Variances between actual 2015 and 2014

A. Supplies and Services including feasibility studies are variable from year to year due to project activity initiatives.

B. Asset expenditure on computer hardware and server upgrade has increased depreciation cost.

C. Grant expenditure increased in 2015 due to  Royalties for Regions initiatives.

D. Disposal of assets in 2014.  No assets with a value were disposed of in 2015.

E. 2014 Other expenses included, a higher return of prior year income.

F. Austrade reimbursements in 2014, included recognised performance based activities for TradeStart

G. Other revenue included recoupment for project activities in 2014.

H. Service appropriation in 2014, included a voluntary severance payment.

I. State solicitors free of charge service was $17K for 2014, but only $196 for 2015.

J. New funding received for Royalties for Regions projects and expended as per explanatory note 4.

K. Grants received from Other agencies included Department of Transport and Department of Water in 2014 for project 
activities.
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L. Accounts receivable had a higher prior year balance due to a significant amount of GST receivable that was unpaid at 
year end. 

M. Other assets consists of prepayments which in the current year we have minimised and management accounted cash 
to period. In 2014 the July lease payment was paid in June 2014.

N. Pemberton Hydro has devalued by $72,198 during 2015.

O. Intangible assets actual expense included the upgrade of the online grants database and Microsoft server.

P. Payables, accrued expenses in 2014, included the Harvey Water expense, of which Department of Water had 
contributed.

Q. There has been an increase in non current leave provision movement, partly due to the transfer of a government 
employee.

R. Department of Treasury do not fund asset replacement from the Holding account, but this is now funded under RfR 
Operational funds.

S. Increase in GST due to higher other grant income from external source.

T. Income recoupments  in the South West for Critical Horizons were received in 2014.

U. Three termination payments were paid in 2014.

V. Deficit in 2014 due to drawdown of prior land sale funds, that were in restricted cash from 2013.

W. Increase in GST payments due to a higher volume of grants payments.

X. Other payments in 2014 included more return of prior revenue than 2015.

Y. Low volume of grant GST reimbursements from the ATO in 2014.

Z. Increase due to expenditure on online  grants database application to reduce administration hours.

AA.  Cash reserves will be reduced due to actual expenditure

AB.  Non current restricted cash included 27th pay which is now allocated to current cash

35. Financial instruments
a. Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments held by the Commission are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, 
receivables and payables. The Commission has limited exposure to financial risks. The Commission's overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Commission’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Commission.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets 
is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown at Note 35(c).
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Credit risk associated with the Commission’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts 
receivable for services (holding account).  For receivables other than government, the Commission trades only with 
recognised, creditworthy third parties.  Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the 
Commission’s exposure to bad debts is minimal.  At the end of the reporting period there are no significant concentrations 
of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Commission is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Commission is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Commission has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring 
forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices and interest rates. The Commission does not trade in foreign currency 
and is not materially exposed to other price risks, as they have a no Interest Bearing financial assets or liabilities.

b. Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period are:

2015 $ 2014 $

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 703,856 703,856

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6,043,591 5,779,960

Receivables (a) 5,579 45,152

Amounts receivable for services 1,253,000 1,253,000

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 209,210 296,809

a. The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory  receivable).

c. Financial instruments disclosure

Credit risk

The following table discloses the Commission’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial 
assets.  The Commission’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of 
financial assets as shown below.  The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and 
impaired financial assets.  The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Commission.

The Commission does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it 
holds.
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Ageing analysis of 
financial assets

Carrying 
amount 

Not past 
due 

and not  
impaired 

      Past due but not impaired
Impaired 
financial 

assets 
Up to 3 
months 

3 - 12 
months 

1 - 5 
 years 

2015 $ $ $ $ $ $

Cash and cash equivalents 703,856 703,856 - - - -

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6,043,591 6,043,591 - - - -

Receivables (a) 5,576 5,576 - - - -

Amounts receivable for services 1,253,000 1,253,000 - - - -

8,006,026 8,006,026 - - - -

2014

Cash and cash equivalents 703,856       703,856 - - - -

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 5,779,900 5,779,900 - - - -

Receivables (a) 45,152 45,152 - - - -

Amounts receivable for services 1,253,000 1,253,000 - - - -

7,781,908 7,781,908 - -

a. The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

The following table details the Commissions contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities.

Interest rate exposure 
and maturity analysis 
of financial assets and 
liabilities

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest 

rate
Carrying 
amount

Interest rate exposure Maturity date

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 
rate

Non-
interest 
bearing

Nominal 
amount

Up to 1 
month

1 - 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year 1 - 5 years

More than 
5 years

2015 % $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 703,856 - - 703,856 703,856 703,856 - - - -

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 6,043,591 - - 6,043,591 6,043,591 6,043,591 - - - -

Receivables (a) 5,579 - - 5,579 5,579 5,579 - - - -

Amounts receivable for 
services 1,253,000 - - 1,253,000 1,253,000 - - 62,000 1,191,000

8,006,026 - - 8,006,026 8,006,026 6,753,026 - 62,000 1,191,000 -

Financial liabilities

Payables 209,210 - - 209,210 209,210 209,210 - - - -

209,210 - - 209,210 209,210 209,210 - - - -

2014

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 703,856 - - 703,856 703,856 703,856 - - - -

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 5,779,900 - - 5,779,900 5,779,900 5,779,900 - - - -

Receivables (a) 45,152 - - 45,152 45,152 45,152 - - - -

Amounts receivable for 
services 1,253,000 - - 1,253,000 1,253,000 - - 62,000 1,191,000

7,781,908 - - 7,781,908 7,781,908 6,528,908 - 62,000 1,191,000 -

Financial liabilities

Payables 296,809 - - 296,809 296,809 296,809 - - - -

296,809 - - 296,809 296,809 296,809 - - - -

a. The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis

None of the Commission's financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period are sensitive to movements in 
interest rates. Movements in interest rates would therefore have no impact on the Commission's surplus or equity

Fair values

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair 
value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the 
applicable notes. 

36. Supplementary financial information
a. Write – offs

There were no write-offs during the financial year.

b. Losses through theft defaults and other causes

There were no losses of public money and public and other property during the financial year.

c. Gifts of public property

There were no gifts of public property provided by the Commission during the financial year.

37. Related bodies
The South West Development Commission had no related bodies.

38. Affiliated bodies
The South West Development Commission had no affiliated bodies.

39. Special purpose accounts
The South West Development Commission had no special purpose accounts.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Certification of Key Performance Indicators 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and 
appropriate for assisting users to assess the South West Development Commission’s performance, and 
fairly represent the performance of the South West Development Commission year ended 30 June 2015.

Stuart Hicks
Chairman of the Board
11 August 2015

Don Punch
Member of the Board
11 August 2015
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Desired outcome

The South West Development Commission’s outcome 
is to coordinate and promote an environment which is 
conducive to the balanced economic development of the 
South West Region.

Key service

The Commission aims to build quality of life in the South 
West Region through the development of new industries, 
more diverse opportunities for its residents, and 
community and industry infrastructure, while advancing 
sustainable jobs growth.

Relationship with Government policy

The South West Development Commission delivers its 
services through four strategic themes:  Investing in 
People and Place, Investing in Infrastructure, Investing in 
Industry and Business, and Investing in Community.

These four strategic themes integrate together to provide 
a balanced approach to regional development. They 
are also aligned with the State Government’s strategic 
planning framework, ‘Stronger Focus on the Regions’, 
with greater focus on service delivery, infrastructure 
investment and economic development to improve the 
overall quality of life in remote and regional areas.

The activities of the Commission aim to ensure that the 
South West is a strong and vibrant region.

1 = very ineffective, 7 = very effective

2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12

Target 80%     5.60 80%    5.60   80%    5.60 79% 5.53

Total client average 91% 6.24   90%    6.26 82% 5.83 84% 5.87

Local governments 93%   6.26 81%    6.13 100% 5.58 84% 5.15

Key clients 90%     6.23 92%     6.29 79% 5.88 84% 6.09

Effectiveness of the South West Development Commission

Key effectiveness indicators

As in previous years, the Commission’s effectiveness 
indicators are based on an evaluation survey conducted 
by an independent consultant.

Client satifaction survey 2015

As part of the performance management component 
of the Commission's strategic planning process, 
independent consultancy firm, Savant Surveys and 
Strategies, was employed to undertake the 2015 SWDC 
Client Satisfaction Survey. Key stakeholders were 
surveyed to determine their views and understanding of 
the Commission's role, activities and performance. 

For all survey periods since 2003, two distinct sample 
populations have been identified – local governments and 
key clients. 

This year involved using an online self completion 
methodology. The contacts were sent an email invitation 
to complete the annual client survey online. The survey 
questionnaire was distributed to all of the clients (236), 
including local government representatives (37). A total 

of 122 clients were interviewed, out of a possible 236 

(useable sample). This results in a maximum survey error 

of +/- 6.18 per cent at 95 per cent level of confidence.  

As often occurs with surveys of small populations (i.e. 

<500), the Sample obtained (N=122) fell short of the 

minimum number required (N=146) to meet the OAG’s 

statistical standard for the given Population (N=236). 

Therefore, although generalisations from the sample to the 

population should be made with caution, a response rate 

of 51.69 per cent is commendable and a great deal of 

valuable data has been obtained.

Of the 122 responses received, a total of 28 local 

government representatives responded out of 37 equating 

to a response rate of 75.67 per cent.   Overall 94 key 

clients responded out of the 199 equating to 47.24 per 

cent.   

91.1 per cent rated the Commission’s Advocacy for the 

region as 'effective’ for 2014-15.  It would appear that 

perceptions of effectiveness has increased within local 

government with a result of 92.9 per cent effective rating, 

but decreased slightly to 90.4 per cent within key clients. 

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
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Average cost per hour

Note 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11

Operating cost 1 $4,793,723 $5,059,164 $4,338,288 $4,611,934 $4,124,092

Project / service hours 2 26,927 24,583 20,844 26,815 27,327

Cost per hour 3 $178 $206 $202 $172 $151

Target 4 $186 $175 $178 $175 $180

SERVICE: REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Key efficiency indicator

Average cost per hour of service

The operating costs of the South West Development 
Commission are based on the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income total cost of services (excluding 
grants and subsidies) for the relevant period. Hourly cost 
is determined by dividing the expenditure for the period by 
the total hours worked for the period. 

Notes on variance between reporting periods

Note 1

Operating cost information is sourced from the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income excluding grants and subsidies. 
A net movement of $ 265,441 is shown. Fluctuations are 
to be expected, given the variable nature of project costs 
associated with projects managed by the Commission. In 
2013-14 costs increased due to three voluntary severance 
payments, and feasibility study expenses in relation 
to Busselton Airport, Blueprint strategic draft, Collie 

Kemerton Integrated Water and other projects activities.  

Project hour efficiency has increased this year, due to 

Royalties for Regions Southern Investment Initiatives, 

progress of the Blueprint for regional development and a 

reduction of operating cost.

Note 2

Project hours are taken from employees' individual time 

sheets and can be influenced by the number and intensity 

of project activity, and the periods of leave which is 

recorded as inactivity. This year’s project hour’s increase is 

due to increased activity by staff.

Note 3

Hours directly attributable to projects or services are used 

to calculate cost per hour and the variance is based on 

the increase in project hours.

Note 4

The target cost per hour is an estimated figure based on 

expected staffing levels, project activities and strategic 

planning.

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES
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CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
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DISCLOSURES

OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

Employment and industrial relations

As at the end of June 2015 the Commission had 23 full-
time equivalent employees. The Commission’s employees 
are employed under the Public Service and Government 

Officers General Agreement 2014.

There was one workers compensation claim during the 
year.

Staff profile

The Commission recognises the benefits of workplace 
diversity and has a continued commitment to furthering 
these principles.

Seventy three per cent of employees were aged over 45 
with no employees aged less than 25 years. Fifty one 
per cent of employees were female and no Aboriginal 
or non-English speaking background employees. On a 
regular basis the Commission hosts school-based work 
experience students and TAFE structured workplace 
learning students.

Staff profile 2013/14 2014/15

Full-time permanent 18 18

Full-time contract 1 0

Part-time measured on 
FTE basis 3 4

Part-time secondment 0 1

Total 22 23

Labour hire

In addition to staff directly employed by the Commission, 
temporary workers from local labour hire providers have 
been engaged to cover reception, administration and 

project support when required.

Work-life balance

The Commission is committed to providing a working 

environment that takes into consideration the needs of 

employees and their families. The approach taken by the 

Commission is to provide flexible working arrangements 

that include the opportunity for employees to adjust their 

working hours through the use of flexi-time and to work 

from home.

Type of flexible 
arrangement

Permanent 
staff

Contract 
staff

Proportion 
of total

Working from 
home 0 0 0%

Working part-
time 4 1 22%

Flexible start/
finish 19 0 83%

Purchased leave 
arrangements 1 0 4%

Employee volunteering

The South West Development Commission is committed 

to providing services for the community and as a part of 

that service we encourage and support our employees to 

participate in community volunteering on a personal level 

as well as on behalf of the Commission.

Employees are able to undertake volunteering duties by 

utilising the Commission’s flexible working arrangements, 

donating during fundraising activities and community 

organised events.

Professional development

The purpose of the Commission’s Professional 

Development Policy is to encourage and support 
employees to actively pursue their professional and career 
development as an integral element of their employment 
with the Commission. The Commission acknowledges 
that continuing professional development contributes to 
personal job satisfaction, workplace productivity, reward 
and recognition.

The Commission identifies organisational goals and 
priorities, and develops and implements a range of 
strategies and programs to enhance and build the 
capacity, skills and professionalism of employees to 
enable them to contribute effectively to the Commission's 
mission and strategic directions. The Commission is 
committed to providing employees with:

•	 The opportunity to develop capabilities that 
complement organisational and work goals.

•	 The opportunity to develop a career plan and 
participate in career development activities that 
extend and enhance their capabilities and capacity for 
advancement within the Public Sector.

•	 Equity of access to professional development 
opportunities.

2014/15

Total training costs $56,776.00

Average training investment $2,184.00

Staff who received study assistance 1

Staff who participated in 
professional development 1

Staff who received training courses 23

Training initiatives in 2014/15 included:

•	 Abare Regional Outlook Conferences

•	 AICD - Strengthening Financial Goverence
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•	 ATI Mirage Training - Business Writing

•	 AURIN Masterclass Training

•	 Australia China Business Council

•	 Aviation - What an Extraordinary Year

•	 BCCI Business Lunch - Brookfield Rail & Southern 
Ports

•	 Bridges Out Of Poverty Workshop

•	 Bunbury Chamber of Commerce and Industries 
Seminar

•	 Bunbury Industrial Market Report

•	 CDU National Conference ( Cruise Ship)

•	 CEDA - Copeland Leadership Program

•	 CEDA - Future of the SW

•	 CEDA Seminar - Future of Infrastructure

•	 CEDA Seminar - WA Transport Update

•	 Clarity Communications

•	 Company Directors Course 

•	 Contract Law for Non-Lawyers and How To Write a 
Winning Business Case

•	 Emergence Creative Festival

•	 Excel Basics Training

•	 Finance Leaders Summit 2014

•	 Grammar and Punctuation Essentials

•	 Industry Tour To Desalination Plant

•	 Intro to Monitoring and Evaluation

•	 IPAA 2014 International Conference

•	 LGMA Regional Forum

•	 Modal Pty Ltd. Executive Team Development

•	 Music Workshop (Creative Industries)

•	 National Agribusiness Series: Leadership in 
Agriculture

•	 QGIS Kickstart Training Course

•	 R4R Grants Database Support

•	 Team Building & Relationship

•	 The Engine Man Presentation

•	 The WA Business Events 

•	 VAST training - National Standards for Volunteer 
Involvement

•	 WA Farmers Annual Dairy Conf

•	 WA Surveying & Spatial Sciences Conference 2014

•	 Writing An Effective Business Case

Study assistance in 2014/15 included:

 • Bachelor of Arts

GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES

Contracts with senior officers

At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of 
employment of service, no senior officers, or firms of 
which senior officers are members, or entities in which 
senior officers have substantial interests had any interest 
in existing or proposed contracts with the Commission 
and senior officers.

Directors liability insurance

The Commission maintained Directors Liability Insurance 
for 2014/15 with the total premium being $1,989.00
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functions are produced using clear and concise 
language with an option of accessing this information 
in alternative formats if required upon request.

4. All people receive the same level and quality of 
service from the staff of the Commission – Customer 
service officers are fully trained to provide a 
professional and courteous customer service to all 
people.

5. All people have the same opportunities to make 
complaints to the Commission – Access to the 
Commission's complaints system is offered in a 
variety of formats.

6. All people have the same opportunities to participate 
in any public consultation by the Commission – The 
Commission ensured that all people are encouraged 
to take an active role in their community and worked 
to overcome any barriers.

Compliance with public sector standards 
and ethical codes

Compliance records for 2014/15:

•	 Public Sector Standards: No breach claims were 
lodged.

•	 WA Code of Ethics: No breach claims were lodged.

•	 SWDC Code of Conduct: No breach of conduct 
occurred.

The Commission has developed policy, guidelines and 
processes to support compliance with Public Sector 
standards and ensures that all associated activities are 
undertaken in a professional and unbiased manner.  
Employees are continually kept informed and standards 
reinforced during performance management, training and 
during inductions.

During the year the following policies and plans were 
reviewed:

•	 Code of Conduct (Staff)

•	 Corporate Wardrobe (Uniform) Policy

•	 Gift Policy

•	 Official Hospitality Policy

•	 Procurement Policy

•	 Travel Policy

•	 Work Life Policy

•	 Corporate Credit Card

•	 Delegation Manual

•	 Financial Management Manual

Reporting on record keeping plans

The South West Development Commission’s Record 
Keeping Plan details the record keeping program for 
the agency including which records are to be created 
and how those records are to be kept.  Measures to 
ensure compliance with the State Records Commission – 
Standard 2 Record Keeping Plans: Principle 6 – include:

 • The efficiency and effectiveness of the organisation’s 
recordkeeping systems is evaluated not less than once 
every 5 years.

 • The organisation conducts an accountability and 
ethical decision making refresher course which includes 
recordkeeping. 

 • The efficiency and effectiveness of the recordkeeping 
training program is reviewed from time to time.

 • The organization’s induction program addresses 
employee roles and responsibilities in regards to the 
requirements of the organisation's recordkeeping plan. 

MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES

No directives were received from the Minister for Regional 
Development during the year in review.

OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

Disability access and inclusion plan 
outcomes

The South West Development Commission has a 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan designed to ensure 
all people are considered in all its activities and services. 
The plan ensures access to Commission activities and 
events, buildings and facilities and information. It also 
ensures all people receive the same quality of service 
and opportunities to participate at the Commission 
as everyone else. The plan can be accessed from the 
Commission’s website or by phoning (08) 9792 2000. 

1. All people have the same opportunities to access 
services of, and any events organised by the 
Commission – Ensuring there is flexibility and 
adaptability in responding to any barriers experienced 
by people accessing services or events is considered 
a key initiative to achieve this outcome.  Policies and 
procedures are adapted where required.  

2. All people have the same opportunities to access the 
buildings and other facilities of the Commission – The 
Commission works in conjunction with the landlords 
to ensure that all buildings present no barriers to 
access and are developing a culture of awareness 
within the Commission to ensuring no barriers to 
access occur.

3. All people receive information from the Commission in 
a format that will enable them to access information 
readily – All information on services and public 

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES
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Electoral Act compliance

In accordance with s175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, 
the Commission incurred the following expenditure in 
advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and 
media advertising.

The total expenditure for 2014/15 was $22,059.

Expenditure was incurred in the following areas:

$ $

Market research Agencies: 11,990

•	 Savant Surveys and Strategies 11,990

Media advertising:

•	 Print advertising
•	 E-Newsletter
•	 Direct mail

8,865
550
654

10,069

Total expenditure 22,059 22,059

Freedom of information

The Commission maintains a range of documents 
relating to its business activities in both hard copy and 
electronic form. These documents include inward and 
outward correspondence, contracts, agreements, reports, 
administrative files, personnel records, project files, 
financial records, internal manuals, statistical information, 
meeting minutes, promotional material, pamphlets 
and brochures, human resource information and asset 
records.

The Commission does not charge for brochures and 
publications. No charge is levied on requests for 
information or access to files although the Commission 
does reserve the right to recoup costs.

The South West Development Commission has a policy 
of providing personal information on request. Requests 

can also be made under the provisions of the Freedom of 

Information Act 1992 for which a $30.00 charge applies

Chief Finance Officer
South West Development Commission
9th Floor Bunbury Tower
61 Victoria Street
Bunbury   WA   6230

The Commission received one Freedom of Information 
requests during the year. 

GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS

Occupational safety and health

The South West Development Commission is committed 
to achieving a high standard of occupational safety and 
health performance through effective safety management 
in accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health 

Act 1984 and the Government of Western Australia’s 
Code of Practice ‘Occupational Safety and Health in the 

Western Australian Public Sector’.

The objective of the policy is to have workplaces that are 
free of work-related injuries and diseases. This objective 
will be achieved by developing and implementing safe 
systems of work and by continuing to identify hazards and 
control risks as far as practicable.

The Commission will do this by operating in accordance 
with occupational safety and health legislation, 
regulations, approved codes of practice and WorkSafe 
Plan; by making all employees and contractors aware 
of their OSH responsibilities through access to OSH 
information and training; and by encouraging senior 
management to take leadership in OSH matters with a 
common view to improve OSH outcomes.

Consultation, communication and cooperation between 

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES
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The expected injury management outcomes are:

 • Return to work in the same position 

 • Return to work in a new position

 • Return to work in a position with another agency

Annual performance for 2014/15

Target 
2014/15

Actual 
2014/15

Number of fatalities 0 0

Lost time injury/diseases 
(LTI/D) incidence rate 0 0

Lost time injury severity rate 0 1

Percentage of injury n/a

Percentage of managers 
trained in occupational safety, 
health and injury management 
responsibilities

Greater or 
equal to 

50% 20%

Occupational Safety and Health initiatives in 2014/15 
included:

 • Ergonomic testing

 • Flu vaccinations

Complaints management

The South West Development Commission is committed 

to providing customers with high quality services to meet 

their needs, and if customers are dissatisfied with the 

services provided, or the way in which they are provided, 

the Commission is keen to investigate and if necessary 

rectify any problems. 

As such, the Commission has complaints management 

policy and procedures. Access to the policy is available 

by phone, in person or via our website.  A customer 

feedback service has been established to ensure that 
customer complaints are heard and dealt with fairly and 
quickly without prejudice or bias. A variety of formats such 
as telephone, email, written and in person are available for 
the lodgement of complaints to the Commission.

Confidentiality is maintained at all times.

The Commission’s Chief Executive Officer has been 
appointed the complaints officer.

There were no complaints received during the reporting 
period.

employers and employees are the key components in 
providing and maintaining a safe and healthy workplace.

The following actions will form the basis of the 
Commission’s consultation mechanism:

 • Employee involvement in hazard identification, risk 
assessment and risk control process through the 
reporting of potential risk to either their manager or 
by entering that incident in the central register.

» Accidents that occur

» Near miss accidents

» Potential hazards in work areas

 • Feedback from employees on occupational safety 
and health issues.

» By survey on an annual basis

» During team meetings

 • Communication to employees of the OSH 
management system on implementation and on 
review.

 • Inclusion of OSH management system requirements 
in employee inductions.

 • Regular reporting of OSH issues at corporate 
executive meetings.

 • Reporting of any irregular OSH risks or incidents to 
the SWDC Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. 

The South West Development Commission is committed 
to providing quality and prompt injury management 
support to all employees of SWDC who sustain a work 
related injury or illness, with a focus on safe and early 
return to meaningful work and in accordance with the 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 
1981.

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES
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South West Development Commission
61 Victoria Street Bunbury WA 6230
PO Box 2000 Bunbury WA 6231

Phone: +61 08 9792 2000
Email: info@swdc.wa.gov.au
www.swdc.wa.gov.au   
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